St. Cloud State University theRepository at St. Cloud State

Culminating Projects in Kinesiology

Department of Kinesiology

6-2016

Identifying the Types of Physical Exercise that Help Individuals with Parkinson's Disease Manage Their Symptoms: A Modified Delphi Study

Brian E. Traeger St. Cloud State University, trbr1001@stcloudstate.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.stcloudstate.edu/pess_etds

Recommended Citation

Traeger, Brian E., "Identifying the Types of Physical Exercise that Help Individuals with Parkinson's Disease Manage Their Symptoms: A Modified Delphi Study" (2016). *Culminating Projects in Kinesiology*. 5. https://repository.stcloudstate.edu/pess_etds/5

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Kinesiology at the Repository at St. Cloud State. It has been accepted for inclusion in Culminating Projects in Kinesiology by an authorized administrator of the Repository at St. Cloud State. For more information, please contact rswexelbaum@stcloudstate.edu.

Identifying the Types of Physical Exercise that Help Individuals with Parkinson's

Disease Manage Their Symptoms: A Modified Delphi Study

by

Brian E. Traeger

A Thesis

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of

St. Cloud State University

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree

Master of Science in

Exercise Science

June, 2016

Thesis Committee: David Bacharach, Chairperson Glenn Street David Robinson

Abstract

It is largely accepted that exercise results in short-term benefits that have a positive effect on activities of daily living and quality of life. Similarly, there is growing evidence that exercise results in long-term benefits^{36,42-44,48,63,67,69,71}. Despite the growing awareness of benefits of incorporating exercise as a part of therapy, there is little consensus on ideal dosages and types of exercise needed to target the wide range of symptoms that occur with Parkinson's²⁶. The purposes of this study were to identify types of exercise people with Parkinson's have used for symptom management and to determine which types they have found most beneficial in relieving the symptoms of Parkinson's. The results will help future researchers use resources efficiently by identifying interventions with high benefit potential that avoid barriers and directing future research away from areas with low benefit potential. The 10 most common types of exercise identified though this modified Delphi study were walking, cycling, yardwork, Static Exercises, resistance training, stretching, Slow Moving Exercises, dancing, Physical Therapy, and Speech Therapy. This list provides some direction for future research by identifying common types of exercise that people with Parkinson's are willing and physically able to do at some point throughout the course of their disease. Investing future resources to identify better intervention strategies for any of these types of exercise may be warranted since innovations could influence a large percentage of the Parkinson's community. Once the ten most common types of exercise were identified, subjects determined which types they have found most beneficial in relieving the symptoms of Parkinson's. Results identified walking, stretching, resistance training, and cycling as relatively high ranked types of exercise. Therefore, all 10 types of exercise warrant future research but walking, stretching, resistance training, and cycling may provide additional benefits from the investment of future resources.

Table of Contents

	Page
List of Tables	5
Part	
1. Review of Literature	6
Overview of Parkinson's Disease	6
Prevalence	6
Pathophysiology	6
Clinical Diagnosis	8
Current Treatments	9
Exercise Interventions for Symptom Management	10
Cardiovascular Training	10
Neuromotor Training	16
Resistance Training	19
Flexibility Training	22
Summary and Suggestions for Future Research	24
The Delphi Method	26
Method	27
Subject Selection	28
Data Analysis	29
Proposal	30
Purpose	32

4	
Page	

Hypotheses	33
Methods	33
Subjects	33
Procedure	34
2. Manuscript	36
Introduction	36
Purpose	38
Methods	38
Subjects	38
Procedure	40
Results	42
Discussion	46
Survey 1	47
Survey 2	48
Relative Rankings	49
Limitations	50
Conclusion	52
References	. 53
Appendix	. 62

List of Tables

Table	Page
1.	Subject Characteristics (average ± standard deviations)
2.	Top 10 Exercises Most Commonly Reported by PD Patients
3.	Values Replacing Subjects' Rankings Based on Total Types of
	Exercise Used by Each Subject
4.	Quotients (sum divided by number of responses) and Relative Groupings for Each
	Type of Exercise in Survey 2 _a
5.	Averages for Each Type of Exercise in Survey 2b after Data Were
	Separated Based on Indicated Experience in Survey 2a45
6.	Average Ranked Values and Relative Grouping of Each Type of
	Exercise in Survey 2 _b

Part 1: Review of Literature

Overview of Parkinson's Disease

Prevalence

Idiopathic Parkinson's disease (Parkinson's) is the second most common neurodegenerative disease after Alzheimer's disease. The prevalence of Parkinson's in industrialized countries is estimated to be 0.3% of the entire population and about 1% of people over the age of 60¹. Currently, about one million Americans and between seven to 10 million people worldwide have been diagnosed and are living with the disease. Each year in the United States, there are approximately 60,000 newly diagnosed patients with men having one and a half times greater risk than women. Since age is a major risk factor, as the baby boomer generation ages Parkinson's is expected to impose an increasing social and economic burden on our society in the future².

Pathophysiology

The basal ganglia refer to a large and functionally diverse group of nuclei located deep within the cerebral hemispheres. Select nuclei in the basal ganglia work together with the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) and the subthalamic nucleus in the ventral thalamus to make up the subcortical loop. The subcortical loop has a large influence in human movement as it links most areas of the cortex with upper motor neurons in the primary motor cortex, premotor cortex, and the brainstem. When functioning properly the basal ganglia partially inhibits the thalamus, which results in the thalamus having an appropriate excitatory influence on upper motor neurons. Parkinson's disease is characterized pathologically by a relatively selective loss of midbrain dopaminergic neurons in the SNpc. Normally the SNpc provides appropriate dopaminergic input to select nuclei in the basal ganglia. The cell death in the SNpc throughout Parkinson's causes an imbalance in neurotransmitter levels throughout important basal nuclei that result in an increased inhibitory outflow to the thalamus. Since the thalamus has excitatory influence on upper motor neurons, the increased inhibitory effects from the basal ganglia cause decreased levels of motor excitation³. Consequently, the loss of these dopaminergic neurons cause many of the motor symptoms in Parkinson's including bradykinesia, resting tremor, rigidity, and postural instability⁴. It is important to clarify that Parkinson's being a result of dopaminergic neuron degeneration in the SNpc is a common and over simplistic view that only addresses a small part of the pathology of Parkinson's. With this neuron death, there must also be an accumulation of intracellular fibrillar aggregates called Lewy bodies. Strictly speaking, Lewy bodies are masses of misfolded and insoluble proteins found in the cell body and terminals of dopaminergic neurons. In addition to the SNpc, dopaminergic neuron death is present throughout the brain including tegmental area and other catecholamine-containing neurons, such as the locus ceruleus⁵. The complex network of interactions involving many normal functioning and dysfunctional nuclei throughout the brain result in the extensive list of motor and non-motor Parkinsonism symptoms.

Although the initial causes and mechanisms of Parkinson's are still unknown, there are accepted factors involved in the disease. These include mitochondria dysfunction, protein degradation dysfunction, Lewy bodies, α -synuclein, oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, and injury susceptibility of catecholamine-containing neurons⁵. General risk factors include things that negatively affect one or more of these factors. There are many known risk factors and the

literature is extensive⁵⁻¹³. However, if all subtypes of Parkinson's are included, risks can be generalized as oxidative stress, genetic, environmental toxins, endogenous toxins and head trauma¹¹⁻¹³.

Clinical Diagnosis

Clinical diagnosis of Parkinson's focuses primarily on the motor symptoms and usually requires the manifestation of at least two of the following symptoms: resting tremor, bradykinesia, rigidity, and/or postural instability. In addition to the presence of motor symptoms, asymmetric symptom onset and response to the primary anti-Parkinson medication that increases concentrations of dopamine in the brain, levodopa, are supportive for a diagnosis of Parkinson's and help rule out other diagnoses¹⁴. A pathological diagnosis requires an autopsy with the finding of Lewy bodies and degeneration of catecholaminergic neurons post-mortem^{15,16}. Although these criteria seem straight forward, Parkinson's is challenging to clinically diagnose especially during early stages for many different reasons. The first signs and symptoms are often subtle and vague which can often be overlooked, possibly by being assumed to be a normal part of aging or a part of a separate disorder or condition.

Even when the disease progresses and symptoms become more prominent, the expression of symptoms happens in a non-patterned manner. Neither the rate of disease progression nor the combination of experienced symptoms can be predicted. One example is resting tremor, which is considered one of the hallmarks of Parkinson's. A study by Hughes and colleagues reported 69% of patients with Parkinson's had resting tremor at initial diagnosis and only 75% of these same patients experienced resting tremor over the course of

their disease. In addition, 9% of those patients who experienced this symptom became tremor free late in the disease¹⁷. Even a study with high tremor presence reported that 11% of their subjects never experienced this ¹⁸ Because of this, disorders such as Essential tremor, arteriosclerotic (vascular) pseudoparkinsonism, drug induced parkinsonism, multiple system atrophy, and progressive supranuclear palsy are often misdiagnosed as Parkinson's. Autopsy studies over the past three decades report correct clinical diagnoses ranging from 76-90%¹⁷⁻²⁰.

Current Treatments

The primary treatment option is the clinical administration of the anti-Parkinson medication levodopa, often in combination with other anti-Parkinson medications. Although pharmacologic therapies are appropriate early in the disease, levodopa loses effectiveness over time and leads to distressing side effects, such as dyskinesias. After levodopa loses its ability to effectively suppress symptoms, patients and health care providers often turn to neurosurgical options, such as deep brain stimulation. Although neurosurgical interventions are often initially effective at relieving patients' symptoms, these treatments come with additional risks and limitations²¹. Even with the combined use of pharmacologic and neurosurgical therapies, the progression of the disease consistently results in inadequately managed symptoms that lead to a general decrease in physical activity, an increased risk of falling, immobility, and cognitive impairments^{22,23}.

The current deficits in the treatment of Parkinson's show a potential for significant benefits in identifying supplemental therapies that, in combination with pharmacologic and neurosurgical therapies, can further aide patients in their symptom management. This has led to some authors suggesting alternative treatment options to slow disease progression and help patients maintain movement control^{21,24}. In recent years, supportive evidence for including physical therapy in the management of Parkinson's has grown and is now included in select national management guidelines²⁵⁻²⁸. This has led to an increased number of referrals, with a survey by Parkinson's UK in 2008 reporting that 54% of the 13,000 participants had seen a physiotherapist, compared with only 27% in a similar survey undertaken in 1998^{29,30}.

Exercise Interventions for Symptom Management

Increasingly over the past few decades, there have been numerous studies that have focused on exercise interventions to alleviate the motor and non-motor symptoms of the disease³¹⁻⁷¹. Due to the diversity of Parkinsonism symptoms, researchers have investigated the benefits of many different types of exercise programs in an attempt to identify ideal interventions for patients with Parkinson's. Although many forms of exercise have shown promising results for treating specific problems experienced in Parkinson's, ideal interventions remain undetermined. The subsequent sections attempt to review motor related issues and the potential benefits of cardiovascular, neuromotor, flexibility, and resistance training.

Cardiovascular Training

Alterations in gait are normal as people age. People, on average, transition to a more stable gait. Compared to young healthy people, elderly gaits have increased coactivation, slower natural walking velocity, reduced stride length, wider step width, increased double-support stance time, decreased push-off power, and a more flat-footed landing⁷²⁻⁷⁴. The cause of altered gait appears to be a result of decreased muscle strength, balance, joint mobility and cardiovascular fitness⁷⁴. Although this is advantageous in some ways, such as preventing falls,

it comes at a metabolic cost. As a result, people have to expend more energy, causing them to have to work at a relatively higher intensity. Elderly people also experience a progressive decrease in their aerobic capacity⁷⁵. This combination can result in elderly people having to work at a much higher percentage of their VO_{2max} during daily activities. As long as this does not become excessive, mobility and quality of life can remain unaffected.

In addition to this "normal" decline in walking capacity as one ages, the symptoms that patients with Parkinson's experience also contribute to a functional decline. This puts them at an increased risk to lose their mobility and experience a decline in quality of life. Part of this is because most patients have difficulty walking. Gait disturbances are often considered one of the hallmarks of Parkinson's and have been studied extensively⁷⁶⁻⁷⁹. At initial diagnosis, gait alterations are often undetected and may have little to no impact on the patients' mobility. During the early stages of the disease, alterations in gait often include increased stride length variability and reduced gait speed⁷⁶. As the disease progresses and symptoms become more severe, gait alterations become increasingly debilitating^{77,78}. In the later stages of the disease, the symptoms usually lead to the inability to walk and becoming wheelchair bound. Characteristics of Parkinson's gait typically includes reduced walking velocity, shorter stride length, increased stepping frequency, stooped posture, rigidity, freezing, reduced arm swing, instability, asymmetry, diminished left-right bilateral coordination, and stride-to-stride variability compared to age-matched controls⁷⁹.

Although Parkinson's gait has been studied extensively, there have been very few studies that have looked at economy of movement in people with Parkinson's^{31,76,80,81.} In the earliest study on economy in patients with Parkinson's, Protas and colleagues⁸⁰ compared

exercise performance between eight men with Parkinson's and seven healthy age-matched subjects during two exercise testing protocols; one using a bicycle ergometer and the other using an arm-cranking ergometer. They reported that subjects with Parkinson's had a reduced lower body and upper body peak power compared to the age-matched subjects. In addition, their results (based on graphs since no statistical comparisons were given) showed that subjects with Parkinson's had the same VO_{2max} as controls but had a VO_2 about 20% higher at the same power outputs throughout both tests. Thus, providing the first evidence that people with Parkinson's may have a poor economy of movement by finding increased energy consumption at given power outputs⁸⁰.

Stanley and colleagues⁸¹ later performed a similar study comparing exercise performance using 13 men and seven women with Parkinson's to healthy gender and agematched subjects during an exercise testing protocol using a bicycle ergometer. The study had similar results showing that, when compared to age-matched controls, men with Parkinson's had the same VO_{2max}, reduced lower body peak power, and elevated VO₂ at the same power outputs. While there was a trend for women with Parkinson's to consume more oxygen, it was not significantly different from controls⁸¹. Interpretations of their results are difficult since the data in both studies by Protas and colleagues had low statistical power because of small sample sizes. While their results provided the first hint that patients with Parkinson's may have poor economy during cycling activities, studies addressing movement economy during activities of daily living in patients with Parkinson's appears to be lacking in the literature during this time period. Several years later, Christiansen et al.⁷⁶ performed a study to determine if walking economy is atypical in subjects with Parkinson's. They compared VO₂ during treadmill walking between 90 Parkinson's patients and 44 control subjects at walking speeds from 1.0-3.5 mph at 0.5 mph increments. Across all speeds, VO₂ was 6-10% higher in Parkinson's patients with larger differences at faster walking speeds. Based on their data, they concluded that walking economy was significantly worse in Parkinson's patients than in controls at all speeds above 1.0 mph⁷⁶. Their findings agreed with previous studies^{80,81}, in that patients with early to mid-stage Parkinson's have a relatively poor economy of movement, specifically the movement of walking. In the most recent investigation, Katzel et al.³¹ measured economy of gait during submaximal treadmill walking in 79 subjects with Parkinson's. They reported that patients with Parkinson's averaged 64% of VO₂ peak at their self-selected treadmill walking speed with 3 subjects approaching 90% of their VO₂ peak. This study suggests the physiological stress during activities of daily living is increased in Parkinson's patients, and is believed to contribute to the elevated level of fatigue that is characteristic of Parkinson's³¹.

Several researchers have examined the potential use of cardiovascular training to help offset the mobility issues that result from these gait abnormalities and poor economy of movement³¹⁻⁴⁴. Numerous studies have shown short-term cardiovascular training using treadmills and bicycle ergometers result in improvements in VO_{2max}, Movement Disorder Society Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale scores (MDS-UPDRS scores), balance, coordination, dexterity, gait, and quality of life in persons with Parkinson's³¹⁻³⁹, with most benefits persisting at least four weeks³⁶⁻³⁹. Although there are too few studies to be conclusive, there is evidence for additional benefits when patients exercise at forced

intensities^{33,37,40,41}. For instance, Ridgel et al.³³ compared the effects of voluntary exercise to forced exercise (approximately 30% more than subjects' preferred rates) in 10 men using a stationary tandem bicycle. After an 8-week intervention, Parkinson's patients in both groups had a significant increase in their VO_{2max}. However, only the forced exercise group showed significant improvements in rigidity, bradykinesia, and bimanual dexterity, with results lasting at least four weeks³³. Interestingly, researchers found that Parkinson's patients exercising at forced intensities obtain benefits almost immediately. Patients with Parkinson's were compared to conventional training and a control group, after only a single session of either speed-dependent treadmill training or limited-progressive treadmill training, Parkinson's patients the showed improvements in gait⁴⁰. Similarly, after a single session of high intensity assisted cycling, Parkinson's patients showed reductions in tremor and bradykinesia without experiencing excessive fatigue⁴¹.

While there are few studies confirming the long-term benefits of cardiovascular training in Parkinson's patients, there is a growing body of data suggesting that this is the case^{36,42-44}. Two short-term exercise interventions have provided some evidence of long-term benefits in patients with Parkinson's^{36,42}. Miyai et al.³⁶ had 11 patients participate in body weight-supported treadmill training (BWSTT) three days per week for four weeks. At the end of the intervention, subjects showed improvements in gait as measured by an increase in stride length. Despite training being only four weeks, subjects maintained their increase in stride length when tested 16 weeks after the intervention³⁶. Similarly, van Eijkeren and colleagues⁴² found improvements in gait, functional mobility, walking capacity, and quality of life in a group of 19 subjects with Parkinson's after six weeks of Nordic walking. They reported

statistically significant improvements persisting in all parameters when the group was tested 20 weeks after intervention⁴².

Further evidence was presented from two long-term interventions executed by Schenkman and colleagues^{43,44}. In 2007, the researchers published a case study on three patients who underwent 4 months of supervised cardiovascular training regimens supplemented with an additional 12 months of home exercise. Results showed sustained improvements in MDS-URS scores, functional performance, and walking economy during the entire course of training⁴³. In 2012, Schenkman and colleagues⁴⁴ published another study comparing short- and long-term responses in 121 patients with Parkinson's to cardiovascular training, flexibility/balance/functional training, and a home-based exercise program (controls). Subjects in both experimental groups were supervised three days per week for the initial four months and then once monthly for the remainder of the 16 months. While not all benefits shown in the case studies were repeated, the 31 subjects in the aerobic exercise group did show improved walking economy at four, 10, and 16 months⁴⁴.

Current literature suggests that cardiovascular interventions can provide short-term benefits that result in improvements in quality of life and functional ability to complete activities of daily living. Despite many promising publications, there is a lack of evidence to say one form of cardiovascular training might be superior to another. Furthermore, long-term adherence to cardiovascular training is believed to be beneficial but its influences in long-term symptom management have not been identified due to the shortage of long-term data. Regardless of type of cardiovascular intervention, almost all studies reviewed reported some beneficial outcomes related to symptom management. Therefore, as long as the activity is appropriate for the patients' ability level, performing any cardiovascular exercise appears advisable but more research is needed to determine ideal exercise programs to be incorporated in clinical treatments.

Neuromotor Training

Gait impairments, postural instability, and falls can lead to an increased risk of mortality and morbidity in patients with Parkinson's^{82,83}. In the general population, it is estimated that 50-70% of individuals with Parkinson's fall within a one-year period⁸⁴, many of which are predicted to be reoccurring fallers. A study by Wood et al. reported 74% of subjects who had fallen over a one-year period were classified as reoccurring fallers⁸⁵. Moreover, in a survey of 100 people with Parkinson's, 13% reported falling more than once per week, with most of them falling multiple times a day⁸⁶. Studies have shown that falling often causes injury, reduced activity levels, decreased quality of life, and increased fear of falling⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹. Consequently, falling is believed to increase a patient's risk for future falls. The fear of falling, often a result from previous falls, has been shown to lead to reduced activity levels⁹⁰. The reduction in activity can lead to a reduction in muscular strength and endurance, which increases the risk for future falls^{91,92}. Other risk factors include high MDS-UPDRS scores, loss of arm swing, freezing, flexed posture, cognitive impairment, postural instability, and leg weakness^{85,91}.

Neuromotor exercises, often called functional fitness exercises, incorporate motor skills such as balance, coordination, gait, agility, and proprioceptive training. Researchers have investigated a variety of neuromotor exercises in an attempt to relieve impairments that contribute to falls⁴⁵⁻⁶³. Tai chi, Qigong, Pilates, and yoga are multifaceted physical activities consisting of varying combinations of neuromotor, resistance, and flexibility exercises. Studies have reported these modes of exercise are as effective as cardiovascular and resistance training programs for improvements in balance and gait⁴⁵⁻⁴⁷. A noteworthy study by Li and colleagues⁴⁸ investigated the impact of a 24-week Tai Chi class compared to resistance training or low-intensity stretching in 195 patients. They reported that Tai Chi significantly improved maximum excursion, directional control, gait, and muscular strength with benefits maintained 12 weeks post intervention. Their results are further noteworthy in that Li and colleagues are currently the only group to demonstrate a significant reduction in fall rates in a large-scale trial as a result of exercise⁴⁸.

In a meta-analysis, Keus et al. suggested patients with Parkinson's who participated in physical therapy that emphasized functional training using cueing techniques were significantly better able to perform activities of daily living⁹³. Cueing is defined as using external temporal or spatial stimuli to facilitate movement (gait) initiation and continuation. Nieuwboer and colleagues⁴⁹ performed a 3-week home cueing program with 153 subjects with Parkinson's using auditory, visual, or tactile cues while training in a variety of situations and daily activities. The study showed that cueing training resulted in beneficial effects on gait, freezing, and balance⁴⁹. In addition, the use of external cues has been reported in gait training, balance exercises, and strength training programs⁴⁹⁻⁵¹. For instance, studies have shown gait training with auditory, visual and tactile cues show improvement in electromyographic parameters, stride length, and stride rate in Parkinson's patients⁵²⁻⁵⁶. In view of that, it is not surprising that dance therapy has become an appealing option in recent years. Dancing can be a type of functional fitness training and uses auditory cues in the form

of music. Furthermore, elderly people consider dance more enjoyable than traditional exercise, which promotes better adherence and enhances motivation⁵⁷. Over the past decade, Hackney and colleges have published multiple studies looking at the effects of Argentine tango, foxtrot, and waltz⁵⁸⁻⁶². All forms of dance showed improvements in balance when compared to traditional exercise therapies, with benefits persisting at least three months⁵⁸. Though all forms of dance resulted in improved balance, gait speed, mobility, and quality of life, the authors reported tango as superior⁶⁰. Even with equal benefits when comparing partnered to non-partnered dance interventions, the authors recommended partnered dances for additional social benefits⁶². Duncan and Earhart⁶³ reported on the effects of a 12-month community-based tango program for individuals with Parkinson's. Compared to the control group, subjects who participated in Argentine Tango dance classes demonstrated a significant reduction in MDS-UPDRS scores, as well as significant improvements in gait, balance, and upper extremity function⁶³.

Overall, studies have shown significant results for Tai Chi and Argentine Tango^{45,48,58-63}. Although these forms of exercise show unique potential, there is currently not enough evidence to determine their roles in future clinical treatments. Neuromotor exercise programs have produced improvements in MDS-UPDRS scores, freezing, gait speed, mobility, and quality of life in patients with Parkinson's. Although the literature suggests neuromotor training can be used to decrease some of the risk factors related to falls, only one study has demonstrated a significant reduction in fall rates⁴⁸. Therefore, future research is needed to determine if exercise therapy can reduce fall rates in the Parkinson's population and to

determine if proactive exercise interventions could slow the transition of non-fallers becoming reoccurring fallers.

Resistance Training

People with Parkinson's have been shown to reduce levels of physical activity more quickly than their healthy peers and have lower levels of strength and functional ability ^{22,94}. Although aging and physical inactivity contribute to muscle weakness, the primary cause of weakness is believed to be insufficient activation of motor neurons as a result of the disease^{94,95}. Studies have shown that patients with Parkinson's have decreased isokinetic muscle strength affecting multiple muscle groups, particularly the flexors and extensors of the hip, knee, and wrist⁹⁵⁻⁹⁸. This is problematic in that muscle weakness in the lower limbs of individuals with Parkinson's is correlated to their ability to perform various functional activities such as sitting to standing and walking^{98,99}. Furthermore, muscle weakness has been shown to contribute to postural instability and may promote the progression of the flexion posture experienced in patients¹⁰⁰. Despite recommendations for the inclusion of resistance training into Parkinson's treatment about 20 years ago, strength training has not been traditionally included as treatment and there is a shortage of research looking at the beneficial effects⁹⁴. Although the current body of literature is limited, evidence supports that resistance training is effective in improving muscular fitness and physical function in persons with Parkinson's^{50,51,64-67}.

Only a few smaller studies have addressed the effects of short-term resistance training programs on people with Parkinson's. In a group of 14 subjects with Parkinson's, Scandalis et al.⁶⁴ reported gains in strength similar to six healthy age-matched controls following an 8-

week concentric resistance training program that focused on lower limb contractions. Subjects with Parkinson's also displayed additional improvements in stride length, walking velocity, and postural angles compared with their pre-intervention values⁶⁴. In another study, Hirsch and colleagues⁵⁰ compared the effects of supplementing resistance training with balance training. For 10 weeks, six subjects received balance training and resistance training (ankle plantarflexion, knee extensors and flexors), while nine subjects only received balance training. Subjects who participated in balance and resistance training programs showed additional increases in strength, balance, mobility, and gait speed immediately after training, with effects persisting for at least four weeks⁵⁰. Several years later, Hass and colleagues reported gains in strength and endurance in upper body muscles following a 12-week resistance training program, with greater gains when subjects received creatine monohydrate supplementation⁶⁵.

Some researchers have suggested muscular strength and functional gains are greater when high-intensity protocols are used involving primarily eccentric contractions^{51,66}. Dibble and colleagues⁵¹ compared the effects of a 12-week high intensity eccentric resistance training program to a standard exercise management program in 19 subjects with Parkinson's. The eccentric group demonstrated greater improvements in quadriceps muscle volume, muscle force production, and mobility compared to the standard exercise management group⁵¹. Dibble and colleagues later performed another study to examine changes in muscle force production, clinical measures of bradykinesia, and quality of life following the same protocol. Similarly, the high intensity eccentric resistance training group showed greater improvements in all outcomes compared to those that received standard exercise management⁶⁶. Although these studies have shown that progressive resistance exercise can result in short-term benefits for patients with Parkinson's, only one published study has measured the beneficial effects of a long-term intervention. Corcos and colleagues⁶⁷ looked at the effects of a 24-month progressive resistance training program compared to a stretching, balance, and strengthening exercise program in 38 subjects with Parkinson's. They reported clinically significant reduction in MDS-UPDRS_{III} scores, increased upper limb muscle strength, and increased movement speed in the progressive resistance training group compared to the stretching, balance, and strengthening exercise group⁶⁷. While the study by Corcos and colleagues provides evidence that long-term progressive resistance exercise programs can have lasting effects of patients with Parkinson's, more studies are needed to confirm these results as it appears to be the only study of its kind in the literature.

Current studies show some degree of evidence that progressive resistance training is effective in improving short-term muscular fitness and physical function in persons with Parkinson's. Researchers recommend the inclusion of resistance training and suggest that the most advantageous volume of exercise should maximize intensity while minimizing fatigue. Due to a shortage of long-term data, the ideal types and long-term effects of progressive resistance training programs in the treatment of Parkinson's are unknown. Compared to cardiovascular and neuromotor training, resistance training has received significantly less attention. Therefore, future research is needed for both short-term and long-term interventions with Parkinson's patients before ideal resistance programs can be determined.

Flexibility Training

Rigidity, one of the cardinal symptoms of Parkinson's, causes stiffness and inflexibility of the limbs, neck, and trunk in patients. Compared to age matched controls, Parkinson's patients have decreased flexibility causing alterations in gait and posture. This abnormal posture impairs Parkinson's patients' ability to control their center of gravity and results in difficulties with balance, agility, and increases their risk of falling^{68,69}. In addition, Vaugoyeau et al. demonstrated decreased flexibility in the body axis of patients with Parkinson's may impair their ability to perform activities that require trunk mobility, such as movement in bed and turning while walking⁷⁰. Although benefits from flexibility exercise have been shown in subjects with mild Parkinson's, current literature shows little benefit for individuals with more advanced Parkinson's^{68,69}.

Studies have shown that people with mild Parkinson's who engage in flexibility exercise training improve their joint range of movement to a similar degree as healthy age matched controls. In addition, exercises designed to improve axial range of motion have been shown to improve functional reach distance, timed gait tasks, and balance in subjects with mild Parkinson's^{68,69}. For instance, Schenkman and colleagues⁶⁸ performed a 10-week flexibility program with 46 subjects that emphasized exercises for axial mobility to increase range of motion of the neck and trunk in subjects. The 23 subjects with Parkinson's in the flexibility program showed significant improvements in spinal flexibility and physical performance compared to subjects in the control group⁶⁸. Several years later, Reuter et al.⁷¹ compared the effects of a 6-month flexibility and relaxation program to a walking or Nordic walking program. The researchers measured walking speed, stride length, stride length variability, MDS-UPDRS scores, and quality of life. Results from this study showed less overall benefits in the 30 subjects who were in the flexibility and relaxation group compared to either the 30 subjects in the walking group or the 30 subjects in the Nordic walking group. However, subjects in the flexibility and relaxation group still showed a significant reduction in pain, increased balance, and improved quality of life⁷¹.

As previously cited, Schenkman and colleagues⁴⁴ compared short- and long-term responses between a flexibility/balance/function exercise program, a supervised aerobic exercise program, and a home-based exercise program (control) over a 16-month period. The 33 subjects in the flexibility/balance/function exercise group performed individualized spinal and extremity flexibility exercises followed by group balance/functional training. Subjects in the flexibility/balance/function exercise group showed significant improvements in activities of daily living at four and 16 months. Interestingly, at four months, subjects in the flexibility/balance/function exercise group were the only group to show a significant improvement in functional performance but decreased back to baseline values at 10 and 16 months. The reason for the loss of benefit experienced in the flexibility/balance/function exercise group is unknown but the authors speculated that decreased supervision after the fourth month in the study may have influenced the level of subject participation in the group⁴⁴. If that is the case, there may still be long-term benefits from flexibility/balance/function exercises with strict adherence.

Based on the current literature, there is reason to believe that patients with Parkinson's can at least experience short-term benefits from flexibility training. However, there are not enough studies to determine if flexibility training can provide long-term symptom relief. Even if the short-term benefits can be maintained with strict adherence to a program, the benefits appear limited and patients will probably find greater benefits by including flexibility training as a part of a more broad exercise routine.

Summary and Suggestions for Future Research

It is largely accepted that exercise results in short-term benefits that have a positive effect on activities of daily living and quality of life. Similarly, there is growing evidence that exercise results in long-term benefits^{36,42-44,48,63,67,69,71}. Despite the growing awareness of benefits of incorporating exercise as a part of therapy, there is little consensus on ideal dosages and types of exercise needed to target the wide range of symptoms that occur with Parkinson's²⁶. In an attempt to develop standardization, the Royal Dutch Society for Physical Therapy developed clinical practice guidelines for physical therapists to use as a reference when treating their patients 28 . The report recommends interventions aimed at improving activities of daily living should be a minimum four weeks and at least eight weeks to improve physical capacity. In addition, they reported strategies to treat specific physical needs in patients. For instance, they included a variety of recommendations for interventions to help normalize gait. Some of these include incorporating both strength training and exercises that improve trunk mobility, using cueing strategies to treat freezing, and using visual or verbal feedback to help correct excessive flexion in posture. Although these guidelines have started to develop uniformed treatment interventions in clinical settings, many of the recommendations are subjective. Since the guidelines do not regulate factors like volumes, modes of exercises, and durations of interventions, the development of many aspects when designing exercise programs rest in the discretion of physical therapists. Therefore, it is

logical that there are considerable variations in dosages and types of exercises used in clinical settings. Given the inconsistencies in treatments, it is clear that ideal interventions have yet to be identified leaving many patients receiving inadequate therapy.

Despite the increase in research over the past few decades, the available data are limited. The majority of studies to date are of short duration, highly supervised, facility based, and included a limited amount of participants, all of which point toward a need for further research. Since Parkinson's is a long-term degenerative disorder, studies with longer durations are vital to determine how exercise can contribute to their long-term symptom management. The benefits demonstrated by numerous short-term studies have warranted future long-term studies on a variety of exercise interventions in an attempt to find ideal long-term interventions. However, with limited resources it is not feasible to perform large-scale longterm studies on all types of exercise interventions. Therefore, it is important for researchers to determine types of interventions that are likely to yield the greatest benefits for the Parkinson's population as a whole.

Ultimately, the goal is for patients to develop long-term self-management strategies through lifestyle changes to perform therapy without an excessive reliance on physical therapists. In 2010, only about 11 percent of people age 65 and over met the current national recommendations for leisure-time aerobic and muscle strengthening activities¹⁰¹. Based on studies reporting that people with Parkinson's tend to be less active in activities of daily living compared to their peers, the percentage of patients with Parkinson's meeting recommended activity levels is most likely even lower¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴. With such a low percentage of people engaging in regular physical activities, ideal interventions should incorporate strategies to avoid barriers

that may prevent people with Parkinson's from engaging in regular exercise. Likewise, ideal interventions should also be enjoyable and engaging to promote regular participation.

Studies examining factors associated with exercise rates in people with Parkinson's have reported self-efficacy, low outcome expectation, lack of time to exercise, and fear of falling to be important perceived barriers^{105,106}. Because of these barriers, the dosages and types of exercise that yield the largest benefits in research settings may differ from ideal interventions in clinical and social settings. For instance, treadmill training has shown significant benefits in research settings³⁶, but using a treadmill may not be appropriate as the disease progresses due to postural instability and fear of falling. Using a safety harness to compensate for postural instability and fear of falling, BWSTT has also shown significant benefits in research settings and is a safe alternative for many Parkinson's patients. However, this type of equipment is usually restricted to clinical and research settings. Due to limited availability and time requirements to use these facilities, BWSTT may not be the best choice for many Parkinson's patients. The lack of long-term data, barriers that prevent patients from exercising, and limited resources for large-scale long-term studies hinder researchers' ability to find ideal long-term interventions to help manage symptoms.

The Delphi Method

The Delphi Method is a forecasting approach in which experts in a specific area have an unbiased debate to form a group consensus¹⁰⁷. The method is founded on the rationale that experts will make assumptions using rational judgements rather than merely guessing and that a group's consensus is more predictive than an individual's opinion¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹. In addition, the method requires anonymity as direct confrontation may result in a biased conclusion. For instance, during a group debate there may be group pressure for conformity or disproportionate contributions due to individuals being socially dominant or timid. Therefore, to form a true consensus the method requires anonymity to ensure that all ideas receive fair consideration and that each member has equal role in deliberation.

Method

The Delphi Method seeks consensus through a series of anonymous surveys where subjects receive feedback between each round, and then provide further input based on the results from the previous survey. In the literature, reaching consensus usually takes four rounds¹¹⁰. However, depending on the level of consensus desired and the nature of group's responses, two rounds is the minimum when using the Delphi Method¹¹¹. The first round consists of open-ended question(s) that help generate ideas and allows participants complete freedom in their responses. During this stage, subjects are encouraged to donate as many opinions as possible to maximize the chance of presenting the most important opinions and issues. After receiving group's responses from the initial stage, the researchers evaluate responses that appear to be the same and group the data together in an attempt to provide one universal description. The collected information is then converted into a questionnaire for the second round of data collection. During this round, subjects are usually required to rate or rank-order items to establish priorities among items. As a result, consensus begins forming and the actual outcomes can be presented among the participants' responses. During the third, and any additional rounds, subjects are provided with feedback related to their own rating on each item and the group's rating on the same items with a summary of comments made by the group. This feedback process makes each subject aware of the range of opinions and the reasons underlying those opinions. After receiving this feedback, subjects are given the

opportunity to re-rate each item. In general, the rounds of surveys continue until a predetermined level of consensus is reached or no new information is gained^{107,109,112,113}. However, only a slight increase in the degree of consensus can be expected, as most convergence of panel responses occurs between round one and two¹¹⁴.

Subject Selection

Many authors consider the choosing of appropriate subjects as the most important step of the Delphi Method as it directly relates to the quality of the results generated^{109,113,114}. To determine expert consensus, it is important to select criteria to identify appropriate subjects that are experts relating to the question(s) of interest. Unfortunately, there is debate in the literature over the term 'expert' and the methods used to identify subjects as experts. In general, having expertise implies that the subject is knowledgeable concerning the selected issue(s). However, choosing individuals who are simply knowledgeable is often not sufficient and is not recommended¹¹⁵⁻¹¹⁷. Some authors recommend selecting subjects that also possess certain work experience or have a firsthand relationship with the issue of interest^{118,119}. Although not appropriate for all situations, an expert can be considered as an individual who possesses more knowledge than the public and has firsthand experiences with the issue(s) of interest.

After identifying appropriate subjects, the desired sample size for the study needs to be determined. Delbecq and colleagues suggested using the minimally sufficient number of respondents¹²⁰. However, an optimal number of subjects for a Delphi study never reaches consensus in the literature. Parentè and colleagues suggest the panel should include at least 10 members, while Delbecq and colleagues suggest 10-15 subjects could be sufficient if the subjects' backgrounds are homogeneous^{120,121}. Additionally, there is no defined upper limit,

although the approximate number of subjects is generally under 50¹²². Ludwig documents that, "the majority of Delphi studies have used between 15 and 20 respondents" ¹²³. Dalkey et al. demonstrated increase in the reliability of group responses with increasing group size. Reliability was found with a group size of 13 with a correlation coefficient approaching 0.9¹²⁴. In summary, the number of Delphi subjects is variable depending on the population and the issue(s) of interest. Based on these reports, the appropriate number of subjects for most studies should be at least 10, but having 15 or more subjects is better.

Data Analysis

Brooks identified consensus as the "gathering of individual evaluations around a median response, with minimal divergence"¹²⁵. Unfortunately, there is currently no agreement regarding the minimum percentage of response needed to demonstrate consensus. Authors have suggested that consensus on a topic can be decided if a certain percentage of the votes falls within a prearranged range¹²⁶. The values usually range from 70-80% of subjects rating within two to three points on a seven-point Likert scale^{127,128}. However, the kind and type of criteria to use in order to both define and determine consensus in a Delphi study is subject to interpretation.

After the level of consensus has been determined and data has been collected, the major statistics used are measures of central tendency (mean, median, and mode) and level of dispersion (standard deviation and inter-quartile range) to illustrate the subjects' responses. In the literature, the use of median score, based on Likert-type scale, is favored^{114,129,130}. However, authors have reported that there is no consistent method for reporting findings. A number of approaches have been used including a variety of graphical representations, and

statistical results outlining central tendencies, variance, and ranks¹³¹. In conclusion, the type of rating scales used, level of consensus, and the interpretation of results is variable depending on the characteristics and goals of each study.

Proposal

Since age is a major risk factor, as the baby boomer generation ages, Parkinson's is expected to impose an increasing social and economic burden on our society in the future². Even with the combined use of pharmacologic and neurosurgical therapies, the progression of the disease consistently results in inadequately managed symptoms that lead to a general decrease in physical activity, an increased risk of falling, immobility, and cognitive impairments^{22,23}. Increasingly over the past few decades, numerous studies have focused on exercise interventions to help alleviate the motor and non-motor symptoms that pharmacologic and neurosurgical therapies fail to suppress³¹⁻⁶⁸.

Research has shown that exercise results in short-term benefits that have a positive effect on activities of daily living and quality of life^{31-39,45-47,49-62,64-66,68,69}. There is also growing evidence that exercise results in long-term benefits^{36,42-44,48,63,67,69,71}. Although many forms of exercise have shown promising results for treating specific problems experienced in Parkinson's, there is little consensus on the ideal dosages and types of exercise needed to target the wide range of symptoms that occur with Parkinson's²⁶. The benefits demonstrated by numerous short-term studies have warranted future long-term studies on a variety of exercise interventions in an attempt to find ideal long-term interventions. Despite many potential benefits, to perform large-scale long-term studies on all types of exercise interventions is not practical or possible due to limited resources. As a result, researchers face

the challenge of attempting to ascertain ideal intervention strategies as quickly as possible while avoiding wasting resources on unsatisfactory interventions.

Since the goal is for patients to develop long-term self-management strategies through lifestyle changes to perform therapy without an excessive reliance on physical therapists, finding exercise interventions that will result in the greatest symptom reduction is only part of the solution. Ideal interventions should also incorporate strategies to avoid barriers that may prevent people with Parkinson's from engaging in regular exercise. In 2010, only about 11% of people age 65 and over met the current national recommendations for leisure-time aerobic and muscle strengthening activities¹⁰¹. Based on studies reporting that people with Parkinson's tend to be less active in activities of daily living compared to their peers, the percentage of patients with Parkinson's meeting recommended activity levels is most likely even lower¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁴. Accordingly, future research should find intervention strategies that are highly beneficial for symptom management while avoiding barriers that may prevent people with Parkinson's from engaging in regular exercise.

Though numerous studies have indicated potential benefits for many types of exercise interventions, they fail to provide a concrete direction for what types of interventions will result in greatest large-scale long-term benefits. While recent systematic reviews have provided recommendations for future areas of research, their predictive value may be restricted by the quality of data available in that majority of studies to date have been short duration, highly supervised, facility based, and included a limited amount of participants. This lack of large-scale long-term data indicates potential benefits for the use of the modified Delphi Method as a way to distinguish types of interventions that are likely to yield the greatest benefits for the Parkinson's population as a whole. Since the Delphi Method is a forecasting approach based on experts' consensus in a specific area, past experiences of people with Parkinson's can be used to contribute predictive value while avoiding the potential bias introduced by other methods from the limitations in current literature. People with Parkinson's can use qualitative data based on past experiences to make predictions without being influenced by the limits of available quantitative data. The Delphi Method may provide insight on beneficial interventions that avoid barriers by having subjects identifying and prioritizing types of exercises they have done. If a barrier prevented participation in an exercise intervention, the person would be less likely to have experienced high beneficial outcomes. In theory, they would then have a tendency to give poorer ratings to interventions that are strongly influenced by barriers. For instance, having a low outcome expectation has been identified as an important perceived barrier for people with Parkinson's^{105,106}. Since the rankings are based on experiences, people should be more likely to continue interventions that they rank as highly beneficial since they have already experienced high outcomes. Because of these unique strengths, the use of the Delphi Method is merited as it could help provide future researchers direction in identifying intervention strategies that are highly beneficial for symptom management while minimizing barriers.

Purpose

The purposes of this study are to identify types of exercise people with Parkinson's have used for symptom management and to determine which types they have found most beneficial in relieving the symptoms of Parkinson's. The results will help future researchers

32

use resources efficiently by identifying interventions with high benefit potential that avoid barriers and directing future research away from areas with low benefit potential.

Hypotheses

It is hypothesized that people with Parkinson's more commonly use certain types of exercise interventions for symptom management and these types of exercise interventions can be identified using a modified Delphi Method. It is also hypothesized that although the expression of symptoms in Parkinson's happens in a non-patterned manner, certain types of exercise interventions provide greater benefits for symptom management and these types of exercise interventions can be identified using a modified using a modified Delphi Method through qualitative data based on subjects' knowledge and experiences.

Methods

Subjects

The subject pool will be composed of members of Parkinson's Disease support groups who have been clinically diagnosed with Parkinson's. Though groups vary in character and focus, meetings are a way for patients to share experiences, educate each other about the disease, and share resources for symptom management. Furthermore, participation in exercise is encouraged in most groups with many support groups hosting Parkinson's specific exercise classes. Subject selection was based on the rationale that members of support groups are more likely to be experienced and knowledgeable about the disease and the impacts of exercise interventions on symptom management compared to the general population. Aside from subjects' expertise, working through group leaders allows for direct contact with subjects while collecting minimal personal information. Thus, subjects' privacy can remain safe while maintaining the ability to contact members to encourage participation throughout the study.

Procedure

Upon IRB approval and consent of group leaders, members from the following support groups will be invited to participate in the study: Capistrant/Bethesda Parkinson support group; Duluth Parkinson's Disease Support Group; Mercy Hospital Parkinson's Disease Support Group: Primrose Retirement Community Parkinson's Disease Support Group; Realife Cooperative Parkinson's Disease Support Group; St. Cloud Parkinson's Disease Support Group; and Struthers Parkinson's Center's Parkinson's Disease Support Groups. Data collection will take place between May 10-June 18. This timeline was selected to minimize time between trials by having subjects complete the surveys during consecutive meetings. Volunteers that have been clinically diagnosed with Parkinson's will complete an electronic or paper copy of the first survey and consent form between May 10-May 22. The initial survey will gather the subjects' information, followed by two questions. Subjects' data will include their name, years since diagnosis, and type of mobility aide if applicable. To ensure confidentiality, each subject's name will be replaced by an ID number chosen at random and will be kept in a log that will be stored in a password-protected computer file available only to the researcher. After subjects provide their information, they will be asked to list all types of exercise they currently do or have done in the past to help manage their Parkinson's symptoms. After all the responses are received from the initial round, the researcher will group responses that appear to be the same and attempt to provide one universal description. The researcher will then take the 10 most frequently listed items and use them to make up the basis of the second survey.

The second round of data collection will take place between May 26-June 18. The 10 most frequent responses will be listed with a brief universal description if needed. Subjects will then be asked to rank each item from most to least beneficial for treating symptoms of Parkinson's based on their experiences and/or knowledge. All items will be ranked on a scale of 1-10, with one being the most beneficial and 10 being the least, and with each number only used once. Reponses from survey two will be pooled and central tendencies will be determined and ranked using Excel. Comparative data from excel will be shown through graphical representations to indicate the types of physical exercises are determined most beneficial for symptom management in individuals with Parkinson's.

Part 2: Manuscript

Introduction

Parkinson's is the second most common neurodegenerative disease after Alzheimer's disease. Currently, about one million Americans and between seven to 10 million people worldwide have been diagnosed and are living with the disease. Each year in the United States alone, there are approximately 60,000 newly diagnosed patients. Since age is a major risk factor, as the baby boomer generation ages, Parkinson's is expected to impose an increasing social and economic burden on our society in the future². Clinical diagnosis of Parkinson's focuses primarily on the motor symptoms and usually requires the manifestation of at least two of the following symptoms: resting tremor, bradykinesia, rigidity, and/or postural instability. In addition to the presence of motor symptoms, asymmetric symptom onset and response to the primary anti-Parkinson medication that increases concentrations of dopamine in the brain, levodopa, are supportive for a diagnosis of Parkinson's and help rule out other diagnoses¹⁴.

Even with the combined use of pharmacologic and neurosurgical therapies, the progression of the disease consistently results in inadequately managed symptoms that lead to a general decrease in physical activity, an increased risk of falling, immobility, and cognitive impairments^{22,23}. Increasingly over the past few decades, numerous studies have focused on exercise interventions to help alleviate the motor and non-motor symptoms that pharmacologic and neurosurgical therapies fail to suppress^{31-44,45-48,49-63,64-68}. Research has shown that exercise results in short-term benefits that have a positive effect on activities of daily living and quality of life^{31-39,45-47,49-62,64-66,68,70}. There is also growing evidence that

exercise results in long-term benefits^{36,42-44,48,63,67,69,71}. Although such studies have indicated potential benefits for many types of exercise interventions for Parkinson's patients, they fail to provide a concrete direction for what types of interventions will result in greatest large- scale long-term benefits. While recent systematic reviews have provided recommendations for future areas of research, their predictive value are restricted by the quality of data since most studies to date have been short duration, highly supervised, facility based, and included a limited amount of participants.

A different approach to address the effectiveness of exercise interventions for Parkinson's patients involves the Delphi Method, a forecasting technique based on experts' consensus in a specific area. Through the use of the Delphi Method, past experiences of people with Parkinson's can be used to contribute predictive value while avoiding the potential bias introduced by other methods from the limitations of available quantitative data in current literature. The Delphi method may provide insight on beneficial interventions that avoid barriers by having subjects identifying and prioritizing types of exercises they have done. If a barrier prevented participation in an exercise intervention, the person would be less likely to have experienced high beneficial outcomes. In theory, they would then have a tendency to give poorer ratings to interventions that are strongly influenced by barriers. For instance, having a low outcome expectation has been identified as an important perceived barrier for people with PD^{105,106}. Since the rankings are based on experiences, people should be more likely to continue interventions that they rank as highly beneficial since they have already experienced high outcomes. Because of these unique strengths, the use of a modified Delphi method is merited as it could help provide future researchers direction in identifying

intervention strategies that are highly beneficial for symptom management while minimizing barriers.

Purpose

The purposes of this study are to identify types of exercise people with Parkinson's have used for symptom management and to determine which types they have found most beneficial in relieving the symptoms of Parkinson's. The results will help future researchers use resources efficiently by identifying interventions with high benefit potential that avoid barriers and directing future research away from areas with low benefit potential.

Methods

Subjects

The subject pool was composed of members of Parkinson's disease support groups who had been clinically diagnosed with Parkinson's. There is debate in the literature over the term 'expert' and the methods used to identify subjects as experts. For this study, a person was considered an expert if s/he possessed more knowledge than the public and had firsthand experiences with the issue(s) of interest. Though groups vary in character and focus, meetings are a way for Parkinson's patients to share experiences, educate each other about the disease, and share resources for symptom management. Furthermore, participation in exercise is encouraged in most groups with many support groups hosting Parkinson's specific exercise classes. Subject selection was based on the rationale that members of support groups were more likely to be experienced and knowledgeable about the disease and the impacts of exercise interventions on symptom management compared to the general population. Aside from subjects' expertise, working through group leaders allowed for direct contact with subjects while collecting minimal personal information.

Members from the following support groups were invited to participate in the study: Capistrant/Bethesda Parkinson support group; Duluth Parkinson's Disease Support Group; Mercy Hospital Parkinson's Disease Support Group; Primrose Retirement Community Parkinson's Disease Support Group; Realife Cooperative Parkinson's Disease Support Group; St. Cloud Parkinson's Disease Support Group; and Struthers Parkinson's Center's Parkinson's Disease Support Groups.

Invitations for the first round of data collection resulted in 36 subjects clinically diagnosed with Parkinson's. One subject was excluded for insufficient time since diagnosis of approximately four months. Since a recently diagnosed member may lack sufficient knowledge about the disease and would lack long-term experiences of impacts of exercise interventions on symptom management, they would not qualify as an expert. Therefore, inclusion of recently diagnosed subjects would violate a fundamental requirement of the Delphi Method. The range in time since diagnosis for the remaining 35 subjects was between 18 months and approximately 20 years (M=7.6±5.4 years) and six subjects required a walking aide for transportation. Invitations for the second round resulted in 24 subjects. Due to unusable responses, six subjects were removed from the second round. The remaining 18 subjects consisted of nine new subjects and nine returning subjects who participated in the first round of data collection. Years since diagnosis and type of mobility aide were not recorded during the second round of data collection and were unknown for the nine new subjects that only participated in the second survey. For the nine subjects who participated in

both rounds, the range in time since diagnosis was between 5 and 14 years (M= 8.3 ± 3.4 years) and no subjects required a mobility aide for transportation.

Procedure

The first round of data collection was used to collect subjects' data and to identify the 10 most common types of exercise used by those subjects for symptom management. All responses were copied into Microsoft Excel and each subject was given a randomized identification number. Survey 1 resulted in 297 unedited responses for types of exercise used. All repeated responses from individuals were removed so each subject could only contribute one vote for each type of exercise. The 200 unrepeated responses were pooled and duplicate responses from different subjects were combined and tallied. The remaining 117 unique responses were grouped if responses appeared to be different ways of describing the same type of exercise. For example, the following responses were grouped and counted as cycling: bike riding; ride bike; bicycling; trike riding; spinning; biking; bike; short bikes; stationary bike; riding bike (stationary); and recumbent bike (for all grouped responses reference Appendix). Although there are significant differences between types of cycling exercises, grouping those responses minimized potential errors introduced by the researcher from subjective interpretation of responses. Vague responses like "bike" could then be included without precise interpretation. After grouping corresponding responses, individual's responses were recounted to ensure that each subject provided a maximum of one vote for each of the top 10 grouped item. Then responses were tallied again and the top 10 types of exercise were used as the base for Survey 2.

Measure	Survey 1	Survey 2
Total Volunteers	36	24
Subjects	35	18
Males : Females	21:14	10:8
Time since diagnosis (years)	7.6±5.4	8.3±3.4*

Table 1: Subject Characteristics (average \pm standard deviations)

*Results based on nine subjects that participated in both surveys.

Survey 2 was sent to all groups with instructions to be completed only by subjects who participated in the first survey. Due to low response rates, the group leaders were contacted and members were requested again to fill out the survey. Since the minimum number of subjects was not met after the second request, the survey was resent to all groups and allowed any group member to participate provided they were clinically diagnosed with Parkinson's. The second survey listed the 10 most frequent responses from the first survey with brief descriptions when needed. Subjects were instructed to rank each item from most to least beneficial for treating symptoms of Parkinson's based on their experiences and/or knowledge. The first part of the Survey 2 (Survey 2_a), subjects were asked to only rank the exercises they have personally done in the past. The second part of the Survey 2 (Survey 2_b) had subjects rank all 10 items based on what they think from their experiences and knowledge. Items were ranked on a scale of 1-10, with one being the most beneficial and 10 being the least, and each number was only allowed to be used once. All responses from the second survey were copied into Microsoft Excel and all new subjects were given a randomized identification number.

Results

The top 10 exercises identified in Survey 1 (Table 2) included walking, cycling, yardwork, static exercises that use bodyweight as resistance and involve controlled breathing while holding specific bodily postures (Static Exercises), ending with physical therapy using movements with large amplitudes (Physical Therapy), and speech therapy used to treat dysarthria and/or dysphagia (Speech Therapy).

Type of Exercise	Response Total
Walking	33
Cycling	16
Yardwork	14
Static Exercises	12
Resistance Training	11
Stretching	11
Slow Moving Exercises	10
Dancing	9
Physical Therapy	8
Speech Therapy	8

Table 2: Top 10 Exercises Most Commonly Reported by PD Patients

*For list of all responses, reference Appendix.

For Survey 2_a , subjects ranked all exercises they have personally used in the past to manage their symptoms. Before comparing the group's data for each type of exercise, subjects' data were conditionally edited. A third of the ranked types of exercise with the lowest values from each subject were replaced with a value of one. A third of the ranked types of exercise with the highest values from each subject were replaced with a value of negative one. All other rankings were replaced with zero (see Table 3).

Table 3: Values Replacing Subjects' Rankings Based on Total Types of ExerciseUsed by Each Subject

Subject(s)	Type(s) of exercise ranked	Ranking(s) given a value of +1	Ranking(s) given a value of 0	Ranking(s) given a value of -1
1	10	1-3	4-7	8-10
3	9	1-3	4-6	7-9
0	8	N/A	N/A	N/A
1	7	1-3	4-5	5-7
5	6	1-2	3-4	5-6
2	5	1-2	3	4-5
3	4	1	2-3	4
1	4	1	2	3
2	2	1	N/A	2
0	1	N/A	N/A	N/A

After subjects' values were replaced, the sum was calculated for each type of exercise and reported as a quotient of the total responses for each type of exercise. In descending order, types of exercise ranked in Survey 2_a were walking, stretching, cycling, resistance training, Static Exercises, Slow Moving Exercises, Physical Therapy, Speech Therapy, yardwork, and dancing. Since data were edited and statistical interpretations were limited, types of exercise were also grouped and less emphasis was put on the order of the ranked quotient values. Walking, stretching, cycling, and resistance training were grouped as types of exercise with relatively high quotient values. Static Exercises, Slow Moving Exercises, and Physical Therapy were grouped as types of exercise with relatively moderate quotient values. Speech Therapy, yardwork, and dancing were grouped as types of exercise with relatively low quotient values (see Table 4).

		Relative Groups of
Type of Exercise	Quotient	Ranked Quotients
Walking	+27.78	High
Stretching	+27.27	High
Cycling	+18.18	High
Resistance Training	+16.67	High
Static Exercises	+9.09	Moderate
Slow Moving Exercises	0.00	Moderate
Physical Therapy	-11.11	Moderate
Speech Therapy	-33.33	Low
Yardwork	-50.00	Low
Dancing	-66.67	Low

Table 4: Quotients (sum divided by number of responses) and Relative Groupings for Each Type of Exercise in Survey 2_a

For Survey 2_b , subjects ranked all 10 exercises based on their experiences and/or knowledge. Before comparing the group's data, data were edited for three subjects. Two subjects failed to rank one exercise. Missing data for each subject was replaced with a value of 10. Similarly, one subject failed to rank two exercises and 9.5 replaced both missing data points. Justification for artificially adding data was based on trends from the group's 176 reported rankings. Based on results from Survey 2_a , Subjects had personally done 103 of the ranked exercises out of the total 176. The remaining 73 ratings were based on subjects' knowledge without direct experience. The average rankings, in Survey 2_b , for exercises subjects had done in the past was 4.27 and for exercises subjects had not done in the past was 7.4 (see Table 5).

	Average ₁	Average ₂	Difference
Type of Exercise	Without Experience	With Experience	Average ₁ -Average ₂
Walking	N/A	3.22	N/A
Stretching	7.29	2.45	4.83
Slow Moving Exercises	7.45	3.86	3.60
Static Exercises	8.00	5.36	2.64
Resistance Training	6.00	3.58	2.42
Yardwork	8.33	6.08	2.25
Speech Therapy	7.33	5.33	2.00
Cycling	5.86	4.09	1.77
Physical Therapy	5.63	4.11	1.51
Dancing	7.18	6.50	0.68
All Responses	7.04	4.27	2.77

Table 5: Averages for Each Type of Exercise in Survey 2_b after Data Were Separated Based on Indicated Experience in Survey 2_a

This difference indicated a tendency for subjects to give poor rankings (higher values) to types of exercise if they had not personally used them for symptom management. Since all four of the missing data points were exercises that the three subjects had not done in the past, replacing the missing rankings with high values appeared more appropriate than leaving the responses blank or giving lower values. After giving values to the missing data, types of exercise were compared using averages. In descending order based on averages, types of exercise ranked Survey 2_d were walking, stretching, resistance training, cycling, Physical Therapy, Slow Moving Exercises, Static Exercises, Speech Therapy, yardwork, and dancing. Types of exercise were also grouped, as in Survey 2_a, for comparative purposes. Walking, stretching, resistance training, resistance training, matching, stretching, resistance training, matching, stretching, resistance training, stretching, resistance training, and cycling were grouped as types of exercise with relatively high average rankings. Physical Therapy, Slow Moving Exercises, and Static Exercises were grouped as types of exercise with relatively moderate average rankings. Speech Therapy,

yardwork, and dancing were grouped as types of exercise with relatively low average

rankings (see Table 6).

		Relative Groups of Ranked
Type of Exercise	Average	Averages
Walking	3.22	High
Stretching	4.33	High
Resistance Training	4.58	High
Cycling	4.78	High
Physical Therapy	5.11	Moderate
Slow Moving Exercises	6.06	Moderate
Static Exercises	6.50	Moderate
Speech Therapy	6.67	Low
Yardwork	6.83	Low
Dancing	7.08	Low

Table 6: Average Ranked Values and Relative Grouping of Each Type of Exercise in Survey 2_b

Discussion

Results from this study represent the opinion(s) of the subjects and are not intended to express the views of the Parkinson's community or a different group of experts. However, the results may be applicable to people throughout the Parkinson's population. Experts in this study and people throughout the Parkinson's community constantly experience the same inadequately managed symptoms as the disease progresses and have to avoid common barriers that affect exercise rates in people with Parkinson's. Therefore, in addition to expressing the views of subjects in this study, this study intends to give direction to future research by identifying types of exercise that are likely to avoid common barriers related to exercise rates in people with Parkinson's. Unlike a classical Delphi Method, each round of data collection did not use the same experts. The 10 most common types of exercises identified in Survey 1 may not represent the most common types of exercise for the subjects who participated in Survey 2. Since different subjects were used, results from each survey should be interpreted separately. The data from Survey 1 indicates the types of exercise used among those 35 subjects. Data from Survey 2 indicates the relative rankings of the 10 types of exercise provided. Instead of representing the group's consensus, results from Survey 2 represent the views of only those 18 subjects who participated. In addition, the quality of the data from Survey 2 may be restricted due to assumptions of expertise (see Limitations).

Survey 1

Lack of consensus in current literature warrants future research for a wide range of potential exercise interventions. Results from Survey 1 identified the following types of exercise as the most widely used among 35 members of Parkinson's support groups. In descending order, the top 10 most common types of exercise identified were walking, cycling, yardwork, Static Exercises, resistance training, stretching, Slow Moving Exercises, dancing, Physical Therapy, and Speech Therapy. This list provides some direction for future research by identifying common types of exercise that people with Parkinson's are willing and physically able to do at some point throughout the course of their disease. Investing future resources to identify better intervention strategies for any of these types of exercise may be warranted since innovations could influence a large percentage of the Parkinson's community. Although these types of exercise are common, ideal interventions may include exercises not identified in this study. Studies looking at forced exercise intensities have demonstrated promising results and may be vital to identifying ideal interventions^{33,37,40,41}. If less common exercises like Nordic walking continue to demonstrate benefits, the key may be the investment of resources to increase participation in such activities.

Survey 2

For Survey 2_a, subjects only ranked the types of exercise they had personally used for symptom management. The intention was for subjects to base their rankings on both experience and knowledge. Since reported rankings were not influenced by subjects' lack of experience, the data could show true expert opinion. Although this method may have improved the quality of data, the different quantities in types of exercise ranked by each subject limited interpretation. Since the initial rankings for each type of exercise were not directly comparable, the data was conditionally edited to allow for direct comparison and visual representation of the data.

For Survey 2_b , subjects ranked all 10 types of exercise based on their experiences and/or knowledge. By ranking all types of exercise, data was easier to interpret and direct comparisons could be made with minimal editing. The design for Survey 2_a was based on the assumption that a lack of experience might prevent subjects from making predictions using rational judgements. However, lack of experience may only have a negligible influence if subjects made predictions using rational judgements based on their knowledge. If lack of experience did not influence subjects' ability to make rational judgements, results from Survey 2_b could be a better representation of the group's opinion since the data could be accurately interpreted. Since each method of data collection had potential limitations, both methods were used for comparative purposes. When comparing both parts of Survey 2 the ranking orders were different. The deference in rankings may have been due to the interpretation of data in Survey 2_a or due subjects' lack of experience when ranking types of exercise in Survey 2_b. Regardless of the cause, the ranking orders were similar and each type of exercise fell into the same category when grouped. Since common trends could be extrapolated from the data, the level of consistency was appropriate for the intentions of this study.

Relative Rankings

In addition to symptom management, ideal interventions should enable selfmanagement, help reduce symptoms, and maximize participation rates throughout the Parkinson's community. In Survey 2, walking and stretching had high relative rankings compared to the other types of exercise for symptom management. Both of these types of exercise can be performed safely, independently, in a variety of settings, and both require little to no equipment. However, walking appears to have an advantage in that it was the most common type of exercise in both surveys. Walking may also enable social benefits from participation in community activities like walking groups. These data may suggest a potential benefit in exploring intervention strategies that incorporate walking such as hiking, powerwalking, community walking groups, and/or treadmill walking.

Other promising types of exercise were stretching, resistance training, and cycling. All three had high relative rankings in Survey 2 and were moderately common in both surveys. There may be additional benefits from further exploring stretching, resistance training, and cycling. Each of these types of exercise may be more appropriate under certain circumstances. If decreased muscular strength was a person's most severe symptom, resistance training may have better outcomes than walking if the primary goal of their intervention is to maintain or increase muscle mass. Since many different symptoms can become problematic as the disease progresses, ideal interventions will probably not be a one size fits all and regimens that incorporate a combination of types of exercise may prove valuable. As a result, all four types of exercise warrant further research.

The relative rankings from Survey 2 are intending to prioritize the types of exercise that should receive future research based on subjects' experiences and opinions. Since rankings were relative, poor rankings do not imply that those types of exercise are not beneficial for symptom management. Although high rankings may suggest potential benefits from future research, each of these types of exercise have shown benefits for symptom management in patients with Parkinson's. Investing future resources to identify better intervention strategies for any of the 10 types of exercise identified in Survey 1 may be worthwhile since they show potential to influence a large percentage of the Parkinson's community. With limited data, it is difficult to say more than exercise in general has beneficial effects for symptom management in patients with Parkinson's. Ideal intervention strategies may be for patients to find types of exercise they enjoy and are likely to have longterm adherence.

Limitations

One limitation to this study is potential bias introduced by the researcher when counting responses from Survey 1. BIG and LOUD is a program for patients with Parkinson's that includes a type of physical therapy (BIG) and a type of speech therapy (LOUD). Physical therapy and/or speech therapy may have been overly represented due to subjective interpretation by the researcher of the response "BIG and LOUD". All responses that included both BIG and LOUD were considered as separate therapies. This resulted in six responses being counted twice, six votes for physical therapy and six votes for speech therapy (see Appendix).

Another limitation to this study was the assumption that nine subjects were experts based solely on membership in a support group. For members who were recently diagnosed with Parkinson's, this assumption would not be appropriate. The major concern was if a large percentage of members were utilizing support groups to seek information about disease after a recent diagnosis. Since a recently diagnosed member may lack sufficient knowledge about the disease and would lack long-term experiences of impacts of exercise interventions on symptom management, their participation would violate a fundamental requirement of the Delphi Method. Based on subjects' recollections, the average time since diagnosis was 7.4 ± 5.5 years for the 36 subjects who participated in the first survey and 8.3 ± 3.4 years for the nine subjects who participated in both surveys. One subject was removed from the study for being diagnosed approximately four months before participation in Survey 1. The limitation of this study was that the time since diagnosis was not determined for the nine subjects who only participated in Survey 2. Although the majority of subjects from the Survey 1 were appropriate, assuming expertise for those nine subjects may have violated a fundamental feature of the Delphi Method.

Conclusion

The 10 most common types of exercise identified in Survey 1 were walking, cycling, yardwork, Static Exercise, resistance training; stretching, Slow Moving Exercises, dancing, Physical Therapy, and Speech Therapy. This list provides some direction for future research by identifying common types of exercise that people with Parkinson's are willing and physically able to do at some point throughout the course of their disease. Investing future resources to identify better intervention strategies for any of these types of exercise may be warranted since innovations could influence a large percentage of the Parkinson's community. Data from Survey 2 showed walking, stretching, resistance training, and cycling as relatively high ranked types of exercise. Therefore, all 10 types of exercise warrant future research but walking, stretching, resistance training, and cycling may provide additional benefits from the investment of future resources.

Reference

- 1. Nussbaum, R.L. & Ellis, C.E. (2003). Alzheimer's Disease and Parkinson's Disease. The New England Journal of Medicine, 348, 1356-64.
- 2. DeLau, L.M.L. & Breteler, M.M.B. (2006). Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease. Lancet Neurology, 5, 525-35.
- Purves, D., Augustine, G., Fitzpatrick, D., Hall, W., Lamantia, A., McNamara, J. & Williams, M. (2004). Neuroscience third edition. Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates, Inc. 417-431.
- Lim, K.L., Dawson, V.L. & Dawson, T.M. (2003). The Cast of Molecular Characters in Parkinson's Disease. Annals New York Academy of Sciences, 991, 80-92.
- 5. Sherer, T.B., Betarbet, R. & Greenamyre, J.T. (2014). Environment, Mitochondria, and Parkinson's Disease. The Neuroscientist 8(3), 192-197.
- Sengure-Anguilar, J., Paris, I., Munoz, P., Ferrari, E., Zecca, L. & Zucca, F.A. (2014). Protective and Toxic Roles of Dopamine in Parkinson's Disease. Journal of Neurochemistry, 129, 898-915.
- Ascherio, A., Chen, H., Weisskopf, M.G., O'Reilly, E., McCullough, M.L., Calle, E.E., Schwarzschild, A.M. & Thun M.J. (2006). Pesticide Exposure and Risk for Parkinson's Disease. Annals of Neurology, 60(2), 197-203.
- 8. Chade, A.R., Kasten, M. & Tanner, C.M. (2006). Nongenetic Causes of Parkinson's Disease. Journal of Neural Transmission, 70, 147-51.
- Gorell, J.M., Johnson, C.C., Rybicki, B.A., Peterson, E.L. & Richardson, R.J. (1998). The Risk of Parkinson's Disease with Exposure to Pesticides, Farming, Well Water, and Rural Living. Neurology 50(5), 1346-350.
- Racette, B.A., Tabbal, S.D., Jennings, D., Good, L., Perlmutter, J.S. & Evanoff, B. (2005).Prevalence of Parkinsonism and Relationship to Exposure in a Large Sample of Alabama Welders. Neurology 64(2), 230-35.
- Stern, M., Dulaney, E., Gruber, S.B., Golbe, L., Bergen, M., Hurtig, H., Gollomp, S. & Stolley, P. (1991). The Epidemiology of Parkinson's Disease. A Case-control Study of Young-onset and Old-onset Patients. Archives of Neurology, 48(9), 903-07.
- Daneshvar, D.H., Riley, D.O., Nowinski, C.J., McKee, A.C., Stern, R.A. & Cantu, R.C. (2011). Long Term Consequences: Effects on Normal Development Profile after Concussion. Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Clinics of North America, 22(4), 683-700.
- Goldman, S.M., Tanner, C.M., Oakes, D., Bhudhikanok, G.S., Gupta, A. & Langston, J.W. (2006). Head Injury and Parkinson's Disease Risk in Twins. American Neurological Association, 60, 65-72.
- Litvan, I., Bhatia, K.P., Burn, D.J., Goetz, C.G., Lang, A.E., McKeith, I., Quinn, N., Sethi, K.D., Shults, C. & Wenning, G.K. (2003). SIC Task Force Appraisal of Clinical Diagnostic Criteria for Parkinsonian Disorders. Movement Disorders 18(5), 467-86.
- 15. Royal College of Physicians (UK). (2006). Parkinson's Disease: National Clinical Guideline for Diagnosis and Management in Primary and Secondary Care. National Collaborating Centre for Chronic Conditions, NICE Clinical Guidelines, 35.

- 16. Jankovic, J. (2008). Parkinson's Disease: Clinical Features and Diagnosis. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 79, 368-76.
- 17. Hughes, A. J., Daniel, S.E. & Lees, A.J. (1993). The Clinical Features of Parkinson's Disease in 100 Histologically Proven Cases. Advances in Neurology, 60, 595-99.
- Martin, W. E., Loewenson, R.B., Resch, J.A. & Baker, A.B. (1973). Parkinson's Disease: Clinical Analysis of 100 Patients. Neurology, 23(8), 783-90.
- Hughes, A. J., Daniel, S.E., Kilford, L. & Lees, A.J. (1992). Accuracy of Clinical Diagnosis of Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease: A Clinico-pathological Study of 100 Cases. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 55(3), 181-84.
- Hughes, A. J., Daniel, S.E., Blankson, S. & Lees, A.J. (1993). A Clinicopathologic Study of 100 Cases of Parkinson's Disease. Archives of Neurology, 50(2), 140-48.
- Merola, A., Romagnolo, A., Bernardini, A., Rizzi, L., Artusi, C.A., Lanotte, M., Rizzone, M.G., Zibetti, M. & Lopiano, L. (2015). Earlier Versus Later Subthalamic Deep Brain Stimulation in Parkinson's Disease. Parkinsonism and Related Disorders, 21, 972-975.
- Fertl, E., Doppelbauer, A. & Auff, E. (1993). Physical Activity and Sports in Patients Suffering from Parkinson's Disease in Comparison with Healthy Seniors. Journal of Neural Transmission. Parkinson's Disease and Dementia. Sect. 5, 157-161.
- Leroi, L., Pantula, H., McDonald, K. & Harbishettar, V. (2012). Neuropsychiatric Symptoms in Parkinson's Disease with Mild Cognitive Impairments and Dementia. Parkinson's Disease. doi:10.1155/2012/308097
- 24. Robichaud J.A. & Corcos D.M. (2005). Motor Deficits, Exercise, and Parkinson's Disease. National Association for Kinesiology and Physical Education in Higher Education, 57, 85-107.
- 25. Keus, S.H.J., Munneke, M., Nijkrake, M.J., Kwakkel, G. & Bloem, B.R. (2009). Physical Therapy in Parkinson's Disease: Evolution and Future Challenges. Movement Disorder Society, 24(1), 1-14.
- Tomlinson, C.L., Herd, C.P., Clarke, C.E., Meek, C., Patel, S., Stowe, R., Deane, K.H.O., Shah, L., Sackley, C.M., Wheatley, K. & Ives, N. (2014). Physiotherapy for Parkinson's Disease: A Comparison of Techniques. Cochrane Collaboration Database of Systematic Review, 6.
- 27. National Collaborating Centre for Chronic Conditions. (2006). "Parkinson's Disease: National Clinical Guideline for Diagnosis and Management in Primary and Secondary Care." Diagnosing Parkinson's Disease. NICE Clinical Guidelines.
- 28. Keus, S., Hendriks, H.J., Bloem, B.R., Bredero-Cohen, A.B., De Goede, C.J. & van Haaren, M. (2004). Clinical Practice Guidelines for Physical Therapy in Patients with Parkinsons Disease. Dutch Journal of Physiotherapy, 114(3), 1-94.
- 29. Parkinson's Disease Society (PDS). (2008). Life with Parkinson's Today-Room for Improvement. Parkinson's Disease Society, London.
- Yarrow, S. (1999). Members' 1998 Survey of the Parkinson's Disease Society of the United Kingdom. Parkinson's Disease: Studies in Psychological and Social Care. Leicester: BPS Books, 79-92.

- Katzel L.I., Ivey, F.M., Sorkin, J.D., Macko, R.F., Smith, B. & Schulman, L.M. (2012). Impaired Economy of Gait and Decreased Six-Minute Walk Distance in Parkinson's Disease. Parkinson's Disease, DOI:10.1155/2012/241754
- Burini, D., Farabollini, B., Iacucci, S., Rimatori, C., Riccardi, G., Capecci, M., Provinciali, L. & Ceravolo, M.G. (2005). A Randomized Controlled Cross-over Trial of Aerobic Training Versus Qigong in Advanced Parkinson's Disease. Europa Medicophysica, 42, 231-238.
- 33. Ridgel, A.L., Vitek, J.L. & Alberts, J.L. (2009). Forced, Not Voluntary, Exercise Improves Motor Function in Parkinson's Disease Patients. Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair, 23(6), 600-608.
- Fisher, B.E., Wu, A.D., Salem, G.J., Song, J.E., Lin, C.-H., Yip, J., Cen, S., Gordon, J., Jakowec, M. & Petzinger, G. (2008). The Effect of Exercise Training in Improving Motor Performance and Corticomotor Excitability in Persons with Early Parkinson's Disease. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 89(7), 1221-1229.
- Miyai, I., Fujimoto, Y., Ueda, Y., Yamamoto, H., Nozaki, S., Saito, T. & Kang, J. (2000). Treadmill Training with Body Weight Support: Its Effect on Parkinson's Disease. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 81, 849-52.
- Miyai, I., Fujimoto, Y., Yamamoto, H., Ueda, Y., Saito, T., Nozaki, S. & Kang, J. (2002). Long-Term Effect of Body Weight-Supported Treadmill Training in Parkinson's Disease: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 83, 1370-3.
- Herman, T., Giladi, N., Gruendlinger, L. & Hausdorff, J.M. (2007). Six Weeks of Intensive Treadmill Training Improves Gait and Quality of Life in Patients with Parkinson's Disease: A Pilot Study. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 88.
- Toole, T., Maitland, C.G., Warren, E., Hubmann, M.F. & Panton, L. (2005). The Effects of Loading and Unloading Treadmill Walking on Balance, Gait, Fall Risk, and Daily Function in Parkinsonism. NeuroRehabilitation, 20, 307-322.
- 39. Canning, C.G., Allen, N.E., Dean, C.M., Goh, L. & Fung, V.S.C. (2012). Home-based Treadmill Training for Individuals with Parkinson's Disease: A Randomized Controlled Pilot Trial. Clinical Rehabilitation, 0(0), 1-10.
- 40. Pohl, M., Rockstroh, G., Ruckreim, S., Mrass, G. & Mehrhohlz, J. (2003). Immediate Effects of Speed-Dependent Treadmill Training on Gait Parameters in Early Parkinson's Disease. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 84, 1760-1766.
- 41. Ridgel, A.L., Peacock, C.A., Fickes, E.J. & Kim, C.-H. (2012). Active-Assisted Cycling Improves Tremor and Bradykinesia in Parkinson's Disease. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 93.
- Van Eijkeren, F.J.M., Reijmers, R.S.J., Kleinveld, M.K., Minten, A., Pieter ter Bruggen, J. & Bloem, B.R. (2008). Nordic Walking Improves Mobility in Parkinson's Disease. Movement Disorders, 23(15), 2239-2243.
- 43. Schenkman, M., Hall, D., Kumar, R. & Kohrt, W.M. (2007). Endurance Exercise Training to Improve Economy of Movement of People with Parkinson Disease: Three Case Reports. American Physical Therapy Association, 88, 63-76.

- Schenkman, M., Hall, D.A., Baron, A.E., Schwartz, R.S., Mettler, P. & Kohrt, W.M. (2012). Exercise for People in Early- or Mid-Stage Parkinson Disease: A 16-Month Randomized Controlled Trial. American Physical Therapy Association, 92(11), 1395-1410.
- 45. Hackney, M.E. & Earhart, G.M. (2008). Tai Chi Improves Balance and Mobility in People with Parkinson Disease. Gait Posture, 28(3), 456-460.
- Burini, D., Farabollini, B., Iacucci, S., Rimatori, C., Riccardi, G., Capecci, M., Provinciali, L. & Ceravolo, M.G. (2006). A Randomized Controlled Cross-over Trial of Aerobic Training Versus Qigong in Advanced Parkinson's Disease. Europa Medicophysica, 42(3), 231-8.
- 47. Lee, M.S., Lam, P. & Ernst, E. (2008). Effectiveness of Tai Chi for Parkinson's Disease: a Critical Review. Parkinsonism and Related Disorders, 14(8):589-594.
- Li, F., Harmer, P., Fitzgerald, K., Eckstrom, E., Stock, R., Galver, J., Maddalozzo, G. & Batya, S.S. (2012). Tai Chi and Postural Stability in Patients with Parkinson's Disease. New England Journal of Medicine, 366(6), 511-519.
- Nieuwboer, A., Kwakkel, G., Rochester, L., Jones, D., Wegen, E., Willems, A.M., Chavret, F., Hetherington, V., Baker, K. & Lim, I. (2007). Cueing Training in the Home Improves Gait-Related Mobility in Parkinson's Disease: The RESCUE Trial. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 78, 134-140.
- 50. Hirsch, M.A., Toole, T., Maitland, C.G. & Rider, R.A. (2003). The Effects of Balance Training and High-Intensity Resistance Training on Persons with Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 84, 1109-1117.
- Dibble, L.E., Hale, T.F., Marcus, R.L., Droge, J., Gerber, J.P. & LaStayo, P.C. (2006). High-Intensity Resistance Training Amplifies Muscle Hypertrophy and Functional Gains in Persons with Parkinson's Disease. Movement Disorders, 21(9), 1444-1452.
- 52. Thaut, M.H., McIntosh, G.C., Rice, R.R., Miller, R.A., Rathbun, J. & Brault, J.M. (1996). Rhythmic Auditory Stimulation in Gait Training for Parkinson's Disease Patients. Movement Disorders, 11, 193-200.
- Müller, V., Mohr, B., Rosin, R., Pulvermüller, F., Müller, F. and Birbaumer, N. (1997), Short-term Effects of Behavioral Treatment on Movement Initiation and Postural Control in Parkinson's Disease: A Controlled Clinical Study. Movement Disorders, 12, 306-314.
- 54. Marchese, R., Diverio, M., Zucchi, F., Lentino, C. & Abbruzzese, G. (2000). The Role of Sensory Cues in the Rehabilitation of Parkinsonian Patients: A Comparison of Two Physical Therapy Protocols. Movement Disorders, 15, 879-883.
- 55. Lewis, G.N., Byblow, W.D. & Walt, S.E. (2000). Stride Length Regulation in Parkinson's Disease: the Use of Extrinsic, Visual Cues. Brain 123(Pt 10), 2077-2090.
- Nieuwboer, A., DeWeerdt, W., Dom, R., Truyen, M., Janssens, L. & Kamsma, Y. (2001). The Effect of a Home Physiotherapy Program for Persons with Parkinson's Disease. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine, 33, 266-272.
- 57. Earhart, G.M. (2009). Dance as Therapy for Individuals with Parkinson Disease. European Journal of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, 45(2), 231-238.

- 58. Hackney, M.E., Kantorovich, S. & Earhart, G.M. (2007). A Study on the Effects of Argentine Tango as a Form of Partnered Dance for those with Parkinson Disease and the Healthy Elderly. American Dance Therapy Association, 29(2), 109-127.
- 59. Hackney, M.E., Kantorovich, S., Levin, R. & Earhart, G.M. (2007). Effects of Tango on Functional Mobility in Parkinson's Disease: A Preliminary Study. Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy, 31, 1-7.
- 60. Hackney, M.E. & Earhart, G.M. (2009). Effects of Dance on Movement Control in Parkinson's Disease: A Comparison of Argentine Tango and American Ballroom. Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine, 41(6), 475-481.
- 61. Hackney, M.E. & Earhart, G.M. (2010). Effects of Dance on Gait and Balance in Parkinson Disease: A Comparison of Partnered and Non-Partnered Dance Movement. Neurorehabilitation & Neural Repair, 24(4). 384-392.
- 62. Hackney, M.E., Hall, C.D., Echt, K.V. & Wolf, S.L. (2013). Dancing for Balance: Feasibility and Efficacy in Oldest-old Adults with Visual Impairment, Nursing Research, 62(2), 138-143.
- 63. Duncan, R.P. & Earhart, G.M. (2012). Randomized Controlled Trial of Community-Based Dancing to Modify Disease Progression in Parkinson Disease. Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair, 26(2), 132-143.
- Scandalis, T.A., Bosak, A., Berliner, J.C., Helman, L.L. & Wells, M.R. (2001). Resistance Training and Gait Function in Patients with Parkinson's Disease. American Journal of Physical Medicine & Rehabilitation, 80(1), 38-43.
- 65. Hass, C.J., Collins, M.A. & Juncos, J.L. (2007). Resistance Training With Creatine Monohydrate Improves Upper-Body Strength in Patients With Parkinson Disease: A Randomized Trial. Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair, 21(2), 107-115.
- 66. Dibble, L.E., Hale, T.F., Marcus, R.L., Gerber, J.P. & LaStayo, P.C. (2009). High Intensity Eccentric Resistance Training Decreases Bradykinesia and Improves Quality of Life in Persons with Parkinson's Disease: A Preliminary Study. Parkinsonism and Related Disorders, 15, 752-757.
- Corcos, D.M., Robichaud, J.A., David, F.J., Leurgans, S.E., Vaillancourt, D.E., Poon, C., Rafferty, M.R., Kohrt, W.M. & Comella, C.L. (2013). A Two Year Randomized Controlled Trial of Progressive Resistance Exercise for Parkinson's Disease. Movement Disorders, 28(9), 1230-1240.
- Schenkman, M., Cutson, T.M., Kuchibhatla, M., Chandler, J., Pieper, C.F., Ray, L. & Laub, K.C. (1998). Exercise to Improve Spinal Flexibility and Function for People with Parkinson's Disease: A Randomized, Controlled Trial. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 44(10), 1207-1216.
- 69. Schenkman, M., Morey, M. & Kuchibhatla, M. (2000). Spinal Flexibility and Balance Control Among Community-Dwelling Adults With and Without Parkinson's Disease. Journal of Gerontology: Medical Sciences, 55(8), 441-445.
- Vaugoyeau, M., Viallet, F., Aurenty, R., Assaiante, C., Mesure, S. & Massion, J. (2006). Axial Rotation in Parkinson's Disease. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 77, 815-821.

- Reuter, I., Mehnert, S., Leone, P., Kaps, M., Oechsner, M. & Engelhardt, M. (2012). Effects of a Flexibility and Relaxation Programme, Walking, and Nordic Walking on Parkinson's Disease. Journal of Aging Research, DOI:10.4061/2011/232473
- 72. Winter, D.A., Patla, A.E., Frank, J.S. & Walt, S.E. (1990). Biomechanical Walking Patterm Changes in the Fit and Healthy Elderly. Physical Therapy, 70, 340-347.
- 73. Peterson, D.S. & Martin, P.E. (2010). Effects of Age and Walking Speed on Coactivation and Cost of Walking in Healthy Adults. Gait & Posture, 31, 355-359.
- 74. Boyer, K.A., Andriacchi, T.P. & Beaupre, G.S. (2012). The Role of Physical Activity in Changes in Walking Mechanics with Age. Gait & Posture, 36, 149-153.
- Fleg, J.L., Morell, C.H., Bos, A.G., Brant L.J., Talbot, L.A., Wright, J.G. & Lakatta, E.G. (2005). Accelerated Logitudinal Decline of Aerobic Capacity in Healthy Older Adults. American Heart Association, 112, 674-682.
- Christiansen, C.L., Schenkman, M.L., McFann, K., Wolfe, P. & Kohrt, W.M. (2009). Walking Economy in People with Parkinson's Disease. Movement Disorders, 24(10), 1481-1487.
- Hausdorff, J.M. (2009). Gait Dynamics in Parkinson's Disease: Common and Distinct Behavior Among Stride Length, Gait Variability, and Fractal-like Scaling. American Institute of Physics, DOI: 10.1063/1.3147408.
- Morris, M., Iansek, R., Matyas, T. & Summers, J. (1998). Abnormalities in the Stride Length-Cadence Relation in Parkinsonian Gait. Movement Disorder Society, 13(1), 61-69.
- Schaafsma, J.D., Giladi, N., Balash, Y., Bartels, A.L., Gurevich, T. & Hausdorff, J.M. (2003). Gait Dynamics in Parkinson's Disease: Relationship to Parkinsonian Features, Falls and Response to Levodopa. Journal of the Neurological Sciences, 212, 47-53.
- 80. Protas, E.J., Stanley, R.K., Jankovic, J. & MacNeill, B. (1996). Cardiovascular and Metabolic Responses to Upper- and Lower-Extremity Exercise in Men with Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease. Physical Therapy, 76, 34-40.
- 81. Stanley, R.K., Protas, E.J. & Jankovic, J. (1999). Exercise Performance in Those Having Parkinson's Disease and Healthy Normals. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 31(6), 761-766.
- Bennett, D.A., Beckett, L.A. & Murray, A.M. (1996). Prevalence of Parkinsonian Signs and Associated Mortality in a Community Population of Older People. New England Journal of Medicine, 334, 71-6.
- Ebmeier, K.P. Calder, S.A., Crawford, J.R., Stewart, L., Besson, J.A. & Mutch, W.J. (1990). Mortality and Causes of Death in Idiopathic Parkinson's Disease: Results from the Aberdeen Whole Population Study. Scottish Medical Journal.
- Morris, M.E., Huxham, F., McGinley, J., Dodd, K. & Iansek, R. (2001). The Biomechanics and Motor Control of Gait in Parkinson Disease. Clinical Biomechanics, 16, 459-470.
- 85. Wood, B.H., Bilclough, J.A., Bowron, A. & Walker, R.W. (2002). Incidence and Prediction of Falls in Parkinson's Disease: A Prospective Multidisciplinary Study. Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry, 72, 721-725.
- 86. Koller, W.C., Glatt, S., Vetere-Overfield, B. & Hassanein, R. (1989). Falls and Parkinson's Disease. Clinical Neuropharmacology, 12(2), 98-105.

- Bloem, B.R., Grimbergen, Y.A., Cramer, M., Willemsen, M. & Zwinderman, A.H. (2001). Prospective Assessment of Falls in Parkinson's Disease. Journal of Neurology, 248, 950-958.
- Genever, R.W., Downes, T.W. & Medcalf, P. (2005). Fracture Rates in Parkinson's Disease Compared with Age- and Gender-Matched Controls: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Age Ageing, 34(1), 21-24.
- 89. Adkin, A.L., Frank, J.S. & Mandar, S. (2003). Fear of Falling and Postural Control in Parkinson's Disease. Movement Disorders, 18(5), 496-502.
- Cumming, R.G., Salkeld, G., Thomas, M. & Szonyi, G. (2000). Prospective Study of the Impact of Fear of Falling on Activities of Daily Living, SF-36 Scores and Nursing Home Admission, Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences, 55, 299–305.
- 91. Latt, M.D., Lord, S.R., Morris, J.G. & Fung, V.S. (2009). Clinical and Physiological Assessments for Elucidating Falls Risk in Parkinson's Disease. Movement Disorders, 24(9), 1280-1289.
- 92. Kerr, G.K., Worringham, C.J., Cole, M.H., Lacherez, P.F., Wood, J.M. & Silburn, P.A. (2010). Predictors of Future Falls in Parkinson Disease. Neurology, 75, 116-124.
- Keus, S.H.J., Bloem, B.R., Hendriks, E.J.M., Bredero-Cohen, A.B. & Munneke, M. (2007). Evidence-Based Analysis of Physical Therapy in Parkinson's Disease with Recommendations for Practice and Research. Movement Disorders, 22(4), 451-460.
- 94. Glendinning, D. (1997). A Rationale for Strength Training in Patients with Parkinson's Disease. Neurology Report, 21(4), 1997.
- 95. Koller, W. & Kase, S. (1986). Muscle Strength Testing in Parkinson's Disease. European Neurology, 25, 130-133.
- Durmus, B., Baysal, O., Altinayar, S., Altay, Z., Ersoy, Y. & Cemal, O. (2010). Lower Extremity Isokinetic Muscle Strength in Patients with Parkinson's Disease. Journal of Clinical Neuroscience, 17, 893-896.
- 97. Nogaki, S.H., Fukusako, T., Sasabe, F., Negoro, K. & Morimatsu, M. (1995). Muscle Strength in Early Parkinson's Disease. Movement Disorders, 10, 225-226.
- Schilling, B.K., Karlage, R.E., LeDoux, M.S., Pfeiffer, R.F., Weiss, L.W. & Falvo, M.J. (2009). Impaired Leg Extensor Strength in Individuals with Parkinson Disease and Relatedness to Functional Mobility. Parkinsonism and Related Disorders 15, 776-780.
- Inkster, L.M., Eng, J.J., MacIntyre, D.L. & Stoessl, A.J. (2003). Leg Muscle Strength is Reduced in PD and Relates to the Ability to Rise from a hair. Movement Disorders, 18(2), 157-162.
- 100. Falvo, M.J., Schilling, B.K. & Earhart, G.M. (2008). Parkinson's Disease and Resistive Exercise: Rationale, Review, and Recommendations. Movement Disorders, 23(1), 1-11.
- Federal Interagency Forum on Aging- Related Statistics. (2012). Older Americans 2010: Key Indicators of Well-being
- Cavanaugh, J.T., Ellis, T.D., Earhart, G.M., Ford, M.P., Foreman, K.B. & Dibble, L.E. (2012). Capturing Ambulatory Activity Decline in Parkinson Disease. Journal of Neurologic Physical Therapy, 36(2), 51-57.

- 103. Skidmore, F.M., Mackman, C.A., Pav, B., Shulman, L.M., Garvan, C., Macko, R.F. & Heilman, K.M. (2008). Daily Ambulatory Activity Levels in Idiopathic Parkinson Disease. Journal of Rehabilitation Research & Development, 45(9), 1343-1348.
- 104. Van Nimwegen, M., Speelman, A.D., Hofman-van Rossum E.J.M., Overeem, S., Deeg, D.J.H., Borm, G.F., van der Horst, M.H.L. Bloem, B.R. & Munneke, M. (2011). Physical Inactivity in Parkinson's Disease. Journal of Neurology, 258, 2214-2221.
- 105. Ellis, T., Cavanaugh, J.T., Earhart, G.M., Ford, M.P., Bo Foreman, K., Fredman, L., Boudreau, J.K. & Dibble, L.E. (2011). Factors Associated with Exercise Behavior in People with Parkinson Disease. Physical Therapy, 91(12), 1838-1848.
- 106. Ellis, T., Boudreau, J.K., DeAngelis, T.R., Brown, L.E., Cavanaugh, J.T., Earhart, G.M., Ford, M.P., Bo Foreman, K. & Dibble, L.E. (2013). Barriers to Exercise in People with Parkinson Disease. Physical Therapy, 93(5), 628-636.
- 107. Ziglio, E. (1996). The Delphi Method and Its Contribution to Secision-making. In M. Adler & E. Ziglio (Eds.), Gazing into the Oracle: The Delphi Method and Its Application to Social Policy and Public Health (pp. 3-33). Bristol, PA: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- 108. Clayton, M.J. (1997). Delphi: A Technique to Harness Expert Opinion for Critical Decision-making Tasks in Education. Educational Psychology, 17, 373-387.
- 109. Gordon, T.J. (1992). The Methods of Futures Research. Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 522, 25-36.
- 110. Linstone, H. A., & Turoff, M. (1975). Introduction. In H. A. Linstone, & M. Turoff (Eds.). The Delphi Method: Techniques and Applications (pp. 3-12). Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- Murry, J.W. Jr. & Hammons, J.O. (1995). Delphi: A Versatile Methodology for Conducting Qualitative Research. The Review of Higher Education, 18, 423-436.
- 112. Sahakian, C.E. (1997). The Delphi Method. Skokie, IL: The Corporate Partnering Institute.
- 113. Stahl, N.N., & Stahl, R.J. (1991). We Can Agree After All! Achieving Consensus for a Critical Thinking Component of a Gifted Program Using the Delphi Technique. Roeper Review, 14(2), 79-89.
- 114. Jacobs, J. M. (1996). Essential Assessment Criteria for Physical Education Teacher Education Programs: A Delphi Study. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, West Virginia University, Morgantown.
- Helmer, O. & Rescher, N. (1959). On the Epistemology of the Inexact Science. Management Science, 6, 25-53.
- Klee, A. J. (1972). The Utilization of Expert Opinion in Decision-making. AICHE Journal, 18 (6), 1107-1115.
- 117. Oh, K. H. (1974). Forecasting through Hierarchical Delphi. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, The Ohio State University, Columbus.
- 118. Jones, C.G. (1975). A Delphi Evaluation of Agreement between Organizations. In H. A. Linstone, & M. Turoff (Eds.). The Delphi Method: Techniques and Applications (pp. 160-167). Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.

- Anderson, D.H. & Schneider, I.E. (1993). Using the Delphi Process to Identify Significant Recreation Research-Based Innovations. Journal of Park and Recreation Administration, 11 (1), 25-36
- 120. Delbecq, A.L., Van de Ven, A.H. & Gustafson, D.H. (1975). Group Techniques for Program Planning. Glenview, IL: Scott, Foresman, and Co.
- 121. Parentè, F.J. & Anderson-Parentè, J. (1987). Delphi Inquiry Systems. In G. Wright & P. Ayton (Eds.), Judgmental Forecasting (pp. 129-156). New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- 122. Witkin, B.R. & Altschuld, J.W. (1995). Planning and Conducting Needs Assessment: A Practical Guide. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- 123. Ludwig, B. (1997). Predicting the Future: Have You Considered Using the Delphi Methodology? Journal of Extension, 35 (5), 1-4.
- 124. Dalkey, N.C., Rourke, D.L., Lewis, R. & Snyder, D. (1972). Studies in the Quality of Life. Lexington, Massachusetts: Lexington Books.
- 125. Brooks, K.W. (1979). Delphi Technique: Expanding Applications. North Central Association Quarterly, 53, 377-385.
- 126. Miller, L.E. (2006). Determining What Could/Should Be: The Delphi Technique and Its Application. Paper presented at the meeting of the 2006 annual meeting of the Mid-Western Educational Research Association, Columbus, Ohio.
- 127. Ulschak, F.L. (1983). Human resource development: The theory and practice of need assessment. Reston, VA: Reston Publishing Company, Inc.
- 128. Green, P.J. (1982). The Content of a College-level Outdoor Leadership Course. Paper presented at the Conference of the Northwest District Association for the American Alliance for Health, Physical Education, Recreation, and Dance, Spokane, WA.
- 129. Hill, K.Q. & Fowles, J. (1975). The Methodological Worth of the Delphi Forecasting Technique. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 7, 179-192.
- 130. Eckman, C.A. (1983). Development of an Instrument to Evaluate Intercollegiate Athletic Coaches: A Modified Delphi Study. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, West Virginia University, Morgantown.
- 131. Hasson, F., Keeney, S. & McKenna, H. (2000). Research Guidelines for the Delphi Survey Technique. Journal of Advanced Nursing, 32 (4), 1008-1015.

Appendix

Identification #_____

Date:

Saint Cloud State University

Survey 1

Identifying Modes of Physical Exercises that Benefit Individuals with Parkinson's Disease: A Modified Delphi Study.

Name:_____

How many years have you been diagnosed with Parkinson's disease?_

Do you require a walking aide or wheelchair for transportation? Yes No

If you selected yes, please indicate what type of walking aide you

use:_____

As you list **all** the physical exercises that you currently do or have done in the past to manage your symptoms, please include all types of activities that you feel have helped. Examples of physical exercise include, but are not limited to, gardening, shoveling snow, weight lifting, power walking, dancing, martial arts, playing darts, or yoga.

What types of exercise do you currently do to help manage your symptoms?

What types of exercise have you done in the past to help manage your symptoms?

Identification #_____

Date:

Saint Cloud State University

Survey 2

Identifying Modes of Physical Exercises that Benefit Individuals with Parkinson's Disease: A Modified Delphi Study.

Name:_____

Part 1: Please rank the exercises that you currently use, or have used in the past, in order from most to least beneficial. Only rank the types of exercises you have personally used and leave all other exercises unranked. **Each Number can only be used once.** The following provides examples:

Example 1) If you have personally used all 10 forms of exercise, you will rank all exercises in Table 1 as follows. 1=most beneficial type, 2=second most beneficial type... 10=least beneficial type

Example 2) If you have personally used 6 forms of exercise, you will only rank those 6 options and leave the remaining 4 types of exercise blank. 1= most beneficial type, 2=second most beneficial type... 6=least beneficial type

Description	Examples	Rank
Static exercises that use bodyweight as resistance and involve		
controlled breathing while holding specific bodily postures	Yoga; Pilates	
Slow moving exercises that use bodyweight as resistance and		
involve controlled breathing while alternating between specific		
bodily postures	Tai Chi; Tae Guk Kwan Do	
	Walking on a treadmill;	
	Daily locomotion; Walking in	
Walking	neighborhood or on a trail; Walking pet	
	LSVT LOUD; Personalized speech	
Speech exercises	therapy	
Yard work	Mowing; Gardening; Chopping wood; Rock picking; Shoveling snow	
Strength training	Using resistance machines, free weights, or elastic bands; Planks and sit-ups	
Dancing	Square dancing; Tango; Instructional dance videos; NIA	
Cycling	Using a bicycle, tricycle, tandem bike, and/or stationary bike; Spin classes	
Stretching	Static stretches; Dynamic stretches; Range of motion exercises	
Physical therapy using movements with large amplitudes	LSVT BIG	

Part 2: Please rank **all** of the following exercises from most beneficial to least beneficial based on what you **think**. If you have not personally performed a type of exercise, you should still rank that type of exercise by how beneficial you think it would be for treating symptoms of Parkinson's disease. **Each Number can only be used once and all types of exercise need to be ranked.**

Please complete all of Table 2 as follows. 1= most beneficial type, 2=second most beneficial type... 10=least beneficial type

Description	Examples	Rank
Static exercises that use bodyweight as resistance and involve controlled breathing while holding specific bodily postures	Yoga; Pilates	
Slow moving exercises that use bodyweight as resistance and		
involve controlled breathing while alternating between specific bodily postures	Tai Chi; Tae Guk Kwan Do	
	Walking on a treadmill; Daily locomotion; Walking in	
Walking	neighborhood or on a trail; Walking pet LSVT LOUD; Personalized speech	
Speech exercises	therapy	
Yard work	Mowing; Gardening; Chopping wood; Rock picking; Shoveling snow	
Strength training	Using resistance machines, free weights, or elastic bands; Planks and sit-ups	
Dancing	Square dancing; Tango; Instructional dance videos; NIA	
Cycling	Using a bicycle, tricycle, tandem bike, and/or stationary bike; Spin classes	
Stretching	Static stretches; Dynamic stretches; Range of motion exercises	
Physical therapy using movements with large amplitudes	LSVT BIG	

Grouped responses from Survey 1.

Grouped Responses	Item Total	Combined Total	Rank
Walking	3		
walking	20		
walks	1		
walk	2		
Walking (power walk)	1		1
5,000 steps/day	1		
Walking assistance dog (some steps)	1	- 33	
Leisure walking	1		
Treadmill	3		
Walking outside or at the mall	1		
Hiking	2		
Cycling			
bike riding	2		
ride bike	2		
Bicycling	1		
Trike riding	1		
Spinning	1		
Biking	3	16	2
bike	1		
Short bikes	1		
stationary bike	2		
Riding bike (stationary)	1		
Recumbent bike	1		
Yard wo	rk		
flower gardening in summer	1		
farm activities like rock picking and wood cutting.	1		
gardening on hands & knees	1		
mowing lawn	1		
mowing a large lawn by hand (7 months/year)	1		
Yard work	3	14	3
shoveling snow	1		
gardening	2		
snow shoveling	1		
lawn mowing	1	1	
Working around house and yard	1]	

Grouped Responses	Item Total	Combined Total	Rank	
Static Exer	cises			
Yoga	8			
Pilates	3	12	4	
Yoga classes	1			
Strength/Resistan	ce Exercises			
weight training	1			
sittups	1			
plank	1	-		
weight machines	1	-		
Some resistance (strength)/(weight)	1			
Lifting weight	1	11	5	
weights	1	-		
knee bends on upside-down Bosu	1	-		
Elastic bands	1			
light weghts/dumbells	1			
Snap Fitness (gym/weights)	1	-		
Stretchi	ng	·		
morning stretchers	1		6	
stretches	1	-		
stretching	8	11		
Big & Loud (35 Min of various stretching each		-		
morning)	1			
Slow Moving E	xercises	1	I	
Tae Guk Kwan Do	1	-		
Tai Chi	8	10	7	
Tai Chi classes	1			
Dancin	g	1	1	
square dancing	1	-		
Dancing	4	-		
Dance	2	9	8	
nia (dance)	1	-		
watch dance & exercise videos	1			
Physical Therapy				
"Big" program exercises	1	8	9	
Big & Loud	4			
Big hand	1			
LSVT BIG & LOUD	1			
Big & Loud (35 Min of various stretching each				
morning)	1			

Grouped Responses	Item Total	Combined Total	Rank
Speech Exe	rcises		
Big & Loud	4		
LSVT BIG & LOUD	1		10
speech therapy	1	8	
Voice	1		
Big & Loud (35 Min of various stretching each			
morning)	1		
Cardiovascular	General	I	
eliptical	2	_	
jogging	1	_	
Running	1	- 7	
stair stepper	1	_	
treadmill at steepest incline	1	_	
eliptical machine	1		
ADL and House	sework	T	
Home maintenance	1	6	
Make the bed	1		
Light housekeeping	1		
house cleaning	2	_	
housework	1		
Swimmi	ng	T	
Swimming	4	4	
Hand Dext	erity	T	
drawing	1	_	
Writing	1	- 4	
Clay class	1		
crocheting	1		
General Group Exe	rcise Classes		
Silver Sneakers	2	_	
Group exercise (The Capistrant Center)	1	4	
exercise group (general)	1		
Group Power Class	es/Exercises		
PWR exercise class	1		
Power Class at Struthers	1	- 4	
power moves	1		
weighted ball tossing/catching	1		

Grouped Responses	Item Total	Combined Total	Rank
Family/Activities of Da	aily Living		
Caregiving husband	1		
Playing ball with grandchildren	1	3	
Pet dog	1		
Traditional Bala	nce	-	
Balance (Matter of Balance)	1	2	
Balance exercises	1	۷۲	
Independent Resp	onses		
Nordic Walking	5		
Golf	2		
Cross country skiing	1		
Massage (deep tissue and reflex)	1		
Bowling	1		
Sledding in winter	1		
Tennis	1		
Skiing	1		
Bag exercises	1		
"CLEVER-Parkinson's Disease" (Health Partners)	1		
Car repairs	1		
Tai kwon doe	1		
Grapevine while passing object in front and behind	1		
Uncategorized Res	ponses		
General life activities	1		
At home exercise	1		
YMCA	1		
General exercise for seniors	1		
Exercise machines	2		
Weight bearing exercise	1		
Weight bearing movement	1		
Arm and trunk exercises	1		